
 

 

Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Llywodraeth Leol a Thai 
Lleoliad: 

Ystafell Bwyllgora 5 

Dyddiad: Dydd Iau, 23 Mawrth 2023 

Amser: 08.45

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Manon George 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddTai@senedd.cymru
------ 

Rhag-gyfarfod (08.45 - 09.00)  

 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau 

   

2 Gwasanaethau Llyfrgell a Hamdden awdurdodau lleol - sesiwn 

dystiolaeth 1 

(09.00 - 10.30) (Tudalennau 1 - 34)  

Jennifer Huygen, Pennaeth Polisi a Phartneriaethau Strategol, Community 

Leisure UK 

Owen Hathway, Cyfarwyddwr Cynorthwyol, Buddsoddiadau, Dirnadaeth, Polisi 

a Materion Cyhoeddus, Chwaraeon Cymru 

Glenn Bowen, Prif Weithredwr dros dro, Cwmpas 

Lyn Cadwallader, Prif Weithredwr, Un Llais Cymru 

3 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42(ix) i benderfynu gwahardd y 

cyhoedd o eitem 4, eitem 5, eitem 6 ac eitem 11 ar agenda’r 

cyfarfod hwn. 

   

Egwyl (10.30 - 10.40)  

 

4 Trafod y dystiolaeth a ddaeth i law o dan eitem 2. 

(10.40 - 10.55)   

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



 

 

5 Ystyried cylch gorchwyl - ymchwiliad ar y sector rhentu preifat 

(10.55 - 11.05) (Tudalennau 35 - 37)  

6 Trafod y Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol 

(Memorandwm Rhif 6) ar y Bil Tai Cymdeithasol (Rheoleiddio) 

(11.05 - 11.15) (Tudalennau 38 - 41)  

7 Yr Hawl i Gael Tai Digonol - sesiwn dystiolaeth 3 

(11.15 - 12.15) (Tudalennau 42 - 75)  

Faye Patton, Rheolwr Polisi a Prosiect, Gofal a Thrwsio Cymru 

Laura Courtney, Pennaeth Polisi a Materion Allanol, Cartrefi Cymunedol 

Cymru 

Jim McKirdle, Swyddog Polisïau Tai, Cymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol Cymru 

Cinio (12.15 - 13.00)  

 

8 Yr Hawl i Gael Tai Digonol - sesiwn dystiolaeth 4 

(13.00 - 13.45)   

Dr Beth Watts-Cobbe, Prifysgol Heriot-Watt 

Dr Jessie Hohmann, Prifysgol Technoleg, Sydney 

9 Yr Hawl i Gael Tai Digonol - sesiwn dystiolaeth 5 

(14.00 - 14.45) (Tudalennau 76 - 83)  

Yr Athro Simon Hoffman, Prifysgol Abertawe 

Dr Koldo Casla, Prifysgol Essex 

10 Papurau i'w nodi 

 (Tudalen 84)  

10.1 Llythyr gan y Pwyllgor Cyllid ynghylch cyllideb ddrafft Llywodraeth Cymru ar 

gyfer 2023-24 

 (Tudalennau 85 - 86)  



 

 

10.2 Llythyr gan y Pwyllgor Busnes ynghylch Memorandwm Cydsyniad 

Deddfwriaethol Atodol (Memorandwm Rhif 5) ar gyfer y Bil Tai Cymdeithasol 

(Rheoleiddio) 

 (Tudalennau 87 - 88)  

11 Trafod y dystiolaeth a ddaeth i law o dan eitem 7, eitem 8 ac 

eitem 9 

(14.45 - 15.00)   



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Inquiry into Local Authority Library and Leisure Services | Evidence from
Community Leisure Wales | 13 March 2023

About us

Community Leisure Wales is a membership association representing leisure and
culture trusts, which are registered charities, societies or community interest
companies (with a public benefit asset lock) managing public leisure and/or culture
services in partnership with their Local Authority for communities across Wales1.

The current state of local authority leisure and library service provision

Not all leisure and library service provision is managed by local authorities
themselves. In most cases, the service is managed by charities and social
enterprises, known as leisure and culture trusts, who are all non-profit distributing
organisations. They have a contractual partnership with the local authority to
manage the library and leisure services.

For local authority library service provision, in four out of 22 local authorities, this is
managed by culture trusts.

For local authority leisure service provision, in eleven out of 22 local authorities, this
is managed by leisure trusts. In the remaining local authorities, there is a mixture of
models for public leisure – two local authorities have set up their own Local Authority
Trading Company (LATC), one local authority works with an operator that is part of a
complex trading structure, and the remaining local authorities manage the service
in-house.

Three Trusts manage both the library and leisure provision.

Further, in all local authorities there are independent leisure and culture facilities that
may be managed through a registered charity or other social enterprise model, such
as the Canolfan Carwyn Sports Centre who now manage the venue after a
community asset transfer from the local authority. These ‘single site’ operators
provide a vital resource and opportunity for people to be active in their community.

The below table gives an overview of the public leisure and library services delivery
models for Wales.

1 Community Leisure Wales member trusts are: Aneurin Leisure (Blaenau Gwent), Aura Leisure &
Libraries (Flintshire), Awen Cultural Trust (Bridgend), Canolfan Carwyn Sports Centre
(Carmarthenshire), Celtic Leisure (Neath Port Talbot), Freedom Leisure (Powys, Wrexham,
Swansea), GLL (Cardiff), Halo Leisure (Bridgend), Newport Live (Newport), Torfaen Leisure Trust
(Torfaen), Wales National Pool Swansea (Swansea), and Wellbeing@Merthyr (Merthyr Tydfil).

Page 1 of 10

Papur 1/Paper 1

Tudalen y pecyn 16



Local Authority Leisure Provision Library Provision
Blaenau Gwent Aneurin Leisure (Trust) Aneurin Leisure (Trust)
Bridgend Halo Leisure (Trust) Awen Cultural Trust (Trust)
Caerphilly In-house In-house
Cardiff GLL (Trust) In-house
Carmarthenshire In-house In-house
Ceredigion In-house In-house
Conwy In-house In-house
Denbighshire Denbighshire Leisure (LATC) In-house
Flintshire Aura Leisure & Libraries

(Trust)
Aura Leisure & Libraries
(Trust)

Gwynedd Byw’n Lach (LATC) In-house
Isle of Anglesey In-house In-house
Merthyr Tydfil Wellbeing@Merthyr (Trust) Wellbeing@Merthyr (Trust)
Monmouthshire In-house In-house
Neath Port Talbot Celtic Leisure (Trust)2 In-house
Newport Newport Live (Trust) In-house
Pembrokeshire In-house In-house
Powys Freedom Leisure (Trust) In-house
Rhondda Cynon
Taff

In-house In-house

Swansea Freedom Leisure (Trust) In-house
Torfaen Torfaen Leisure Trust (Trust) In-house
Vale of Glamorgan Legacy Leisure (complex

trading structure)
In-house

Wrexham Freedom Leisure (Trust) In-house

Financial and operational challenges

Public leisure and library services had not yet fully recovered from the impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic when the cost-of-living crisis hit last year. For the current
financial year, ending March 2023, 80% of our members project a deficit outturn at
year end3 with an anticipated combined deficit of over £5.4 million for only leisure
trusts. The impact of inflation on leisure and culture was recognised by the Culture,
Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International Relations Committee,
which concluded that Welsh sports and cultural venues need urgent help4.

4 Welsh Parliament Culture, Communications, Welsh Language, Sport, and International Relations
Committee. Increasing costs Impact on culture and sport November 2022. Available at:
https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=39879

3 We identified four underlying challenges: changed income levels from customers; local government
budgets; increased costs in utilities; and increasing investment in pay awards. The full report is
available on our website:
https://communityleisureuk.org/work/latest-sector-landscape-reports/#wales-crisis

2 The Council made the decision in 2022 to insource the public leisure service following a two-year
tendering process. Due to the cost-of-living crisis and costs associated with the transfer, the Council
has now postponed the transfer for another year.

Page 2 of 10
Tudalen y pecyn 17

https://business.senedd.wales/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=39879
https://communityleisureuk.org/work/latest-sector-landscape-reports/#wales-crisis


There are four key pressure points that are particularly challenging for public leisure
and library services.

1) Public return to public leisure and library services

For leisure, while usage of facilities is recovering, with an average of 86% usage of
public leisure (excluding swimming) when compared to pre-Covid visitor numbers,
this does not correspond to a full return of income. Not only has the return level of
customers stabilised, and therefore income has stagnated, but the number of people
on concessionary or pay-as-you-go membership has increased. This reflects the
impact of cost of living and the reduction in disposable income of the public.

To illustrate, one member stated that their visitor numbers are 102% compared to
pre-Covid, but their general income is still 10% lower than pre-Covid as 80% of their
current gym and fitness membership is on a concessionary rate. The exceptions are
swimming lessons, where there is a strong return with some still working on waiting
lists and backlogs from the pool closures during the pandemic.

For library services, footfall is slowly recovering but not yet back to pre-Covid levels.
As many libraries share their facilities with other community services, such as the
Council support office, it is difficult to count how many people come in for library
services only, as the footfall is measured by the total number of people who come
through the doors. However, while the footfall in libraries may be slower, the number
of virtual issues of books and home delivery is seeing a higher demand.

2) Management fees and Council budgets

Leisure and culture trusts receive a management fee from their local authorities to
manage the services on their behalf. However, the majority of these contributions
have remained flat, a real terms reduction, or they have decreased in the past few
years5. This trend forced operators to be more reliant on income from trading which
is also reduced, making them now victims of their own success, and therefore
leaving little to invest back into the service or to manage the increased expenditure.
While the 7.9% increase in funding from the Welsh Government, which is around
£400m, is welcomed, tough decisions will remain, given Welsh local government is
facing a £784m budget black hole next year6.

3) Pay awards

Leisure and culture trusts have increased wages over the past 12 months beyond
normal pay awards in order to recruit and retain staff. While 45% of Trusts receive
financial support from their local authority partner to manage pay differentials and

6 Welsh Local Government Association. “Hopeful of continuation of Welsh Government’s commitment
to local services”. Available at:
https://www.wlga.wales/hopeful-of-continuation-of-welsh-government%e2%80%99s-commitment-to-lo
cal-services

5 Changes in the value of management fees froze during the pandemic in recognition of the financial
challenges to operators, but have now continued in line with earlier targets from Councils.

Page 3 of 10
Tudalen y pecyn 18

https://www.wlga.wales/hopeful-of-continuation-of-welsh-government%e2%80%99s-commitment-to-local-services
https://www.wlga.wales/hopeful-of-continuation-of-welsh-government%e2%80%99s-commitment-to-local-services


inflation (either through management fees linked to the Consumer Price Index or
additional funding support from the Council to cover pay rises), there are significant
pressures regarding affordability, especially for the majority that receive no support.

To illustrate, our members in Wales work closely with trade unions and work to
ensure pay is in line with increases in National Living Wage and ensure pay
differentials. In the case of one Trust, this will add over £500k to the expenditure bill
for 2023/24. Another Trust informed us that their end of year deficit budget of £300k
is mostly caused by realigning pay scales to ensure there is no erosion of pay
differentials between staff.

Due to the significant increase in the National Minimum/Living Wage (9.7% from April
2023), many Trusts will struggle to match this across the organisation. They will
therefore prioritise those on NMW/NLW with a tiered pay award across the rest of the
organisation. Unfortunately, this will result in further erosion of the differentials
between salary grades.

4) Investment in decarbonisation

Leisure and culture trusts continue to review opportunities for decarbonisation as a
key priority. While it will not solve the current, immediate pressures, they are working
closely with local authorities to access the Welsh Government’s Free Energy Service
and are actively using the capital investment opportunities from Sport Wales to future
proof the service.

However, while leisure facilities are consistently in the top 5 most carbon intensive
buildings in a local authority area7, and up to two thirds of the building stock is past
its replacement date, leisure trusts are unable to make further investments without
sustainable financial support into their services due to the large costs involved and
their current financial position.

Local authority arrangements and exit strategies

If a local authority with inhouse leisure or library services wants to move to a leisure
or culture trust model, they can do so without the need to go through a competitive
procurement process as leisure and culture trusts are core, or “anchor”, local and
regional public benefit community institutions, with no other competitors delivering
the same services. They are purpose-aligned with commissioning public authorities
and may, on that basis, in reality, be properly recognised as distinct from commercial
market suppliers. The formal procurement requirement is the “Negotiated
Procedure”, meaning agreeing a contract which is objectively fair and reasonable
from the public sector perspective8.

8 Stone King. Leisure and Culture Trusts and Progressive Public Sector Commissioning: a Paper
Commissioned by Community Leisure UK. Available at:

7 As identified through the ‘opportunity identification’ of the Welsh Government Energy Service.

Page 4 of 10
Tudalen y pecyn 19



Strong partnership and an agreed joint focus on local outcomes between a local
authority and their delivery partner i.e. leisure or culture trust will inform a Service
Plan with mutually agreed targets and expectations.

For local authorities that work with a leisure and/or culture trust, there are direct and
indirect financial risks and consequences to consider if they are contemplating an
alternative model.

There are two main parts of this process:

1. The costs and timeline of the service transfer to a different delivery model;
2. A robust options appraisal outlining the advantages and disadvantages of

different models.

Undertaking a full procurement exercise including transfer would take at least 18
months and incur significant costs and management resources. There are two
options without the need to undertake a competitive procurement process; either
bringing the service in-house or establishing a Local Authority Trading Company
(LATC). However, in both cases, the insourcing process has significant set up costs,
as well as ongoing increased delivery costs as compared with an outsourced model.

Advice from the Local Government Association in England and the lessons learned
from local authorities who have gone through changing their delivery model highlight
that exhausting all options to maintain the existing operator should be the first step9.
This includes exploring terms that could make the existing contractual relationship
more viable.

Moreover, section 16 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 places
a duty on local authorities to ‘promote development of Social Enterprises to provide
care and support and preventative services’. In light of this, the Auditor General for
Wales has evaluated how local authorities work with social enterprises, in which it
concluded that “Social Enterprises can provide important services, but most local
authorities lack a coherent strategy and are not working collaboratively to help
support their growth and development”10.

If, after careful consideration, the local authority decides to go ahead with an exit
strategy and change delivery models, there is a long checklist available to assist with
the transfer process11.

11 See footnote 9, Appendix B: Transfer checklist.

10 Audit Wales. ‘A missed opportunity’ – Social Enterprises. Available at:
https://www.audit.wales/publication/missed-opportunity-social-enterprises

9 Local Government Association. A guide to the emergency insourcing of leisure services. Available
at: https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guide-emergency-insourcing-leisure-services#

https://communityleisureuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/Leisure-Trusts-and-Progressive-Commis
sioning.pdf

Page 5 of 10
Tudalen y pecyn 20

https://www.audit.wales/publication/missed-opportunity-social-enterprises
https://www.local.gov.uk/publications/guide-emergency-insourcing-leisure-services
https://communityleisureuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/Leisure-Trusts-and-Progressive-Commissioning.pdf
https://communityleisureuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/07/Leisure-Trusts-and-Progressive-Commissioning.pdf


As part of the transfer of service from an outsourced provider to an in-house delivery
model i.e. insourcing, below are some of the key considerations, though this is not
an exhaustive list:

● Set up and mobilisation costs and resources including human resources and
TUPE transfer management, IT systems and licenses, operational systems
and policies, health and safety policies and procedures, maintenance and
utilities management systems, sales, marketing and communications
development, finance and administration systems and project management.

● Allocation of risk, specifically operational and commercial.
● Service disruption.

In the case of a new LATC, there would be additional resources required to establish
governance policies and additional legal costs12.

Once the transfer is complete, it is important to consider that moving away from a
leisure or culture trust model to an in-house delivery, will come with a significant
change in the ability of the service to access efficiencies. While there has been a
recent change in legislation to VAT treatment of local authority leisure services13

which allows local authorities to apply the non-business treatment to their supplies of
leisure services, there are still significant cost benefits to the leisure and culture trust
model that will be lost. What makes leisure and culture trusts a more favourable
model from a tax perspective, is the 80% NNDR charitable relief. This will no longer
be accessible if the Local Authority decides to run the public leisure and/or library
services in-house.

In addition, the following needs to be considered when changing from a charitable
trust model to in-house delivery of public leisure and library services:

● Future operational costs including lower levels of income generation, and
higher procurement costs.

● Increased employee costs, including alignment with local authority pay scales
and terms and conditions, and the absorption of pension liabilities.

● Loss of access to charitable relief, including Gift Aid and other benefits.

We caution local authorities to not make decisions based solely on cost
management but instead focus on the delivery of leisure and culture as public
services. Changing contracts from a leisure or culture trust to an alternative model is
unlikely to support Councils with their budget pressures nor will it increase the
investment going to public leisure and culture services.

13 UK Government. Policy paper. Changes to VAT treatment of local authority leisure services.
Available at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/revenue-and-customs-brief-3-2023-changes-to-vat-treat
ment-of-local-authority-leisure-services/changes-to-vat-treatment-of-local-authority-leisure-services

12 See “Phase two - Transfer preparation” of the emergency insourcing of leisure services guidance
linked in footnote 9.

Page 6 of 10
Tudalen y pecyn 21

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/revenue-and-customs-brief-3-2023-changes-to-vat-treatment-of-local-authority-leisure-services/changes-to-vat-treatment-of-local-authority-leisure-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/revenue-and-customs-brief-3-2023-changes-to-vat-treatment-of-local-authority-leisure-services/changes-to-vat-treatment-of-local-authority-leisure-services


This is especially relevant in Wales with the Welsh Government’s recent publication
A toolkit for insourcing in Wales14. As highlighted in the guidance, insourcing should
not undermine foundational economy objectives and the value of social enterprise
and cooperative models should be recognised. The guidance states:

"Nurturing the third sector, including social businesses, not-for-profit enterprises, and
democratic businesses such as worker-owned co-operatives, is key to maximising
the benefits of a foundational economy approach. These organisations, provided
they sit within a generative business structure, are hardwired to redistribute surplus
and benefits locally, so increasing their prominence in the economy, locks more
wealth and benefits into local communities. " (p. 18)

Therefore, a blanket approach to insourcing as an “exit strategy” would neglect to
consider the charitable purpose of leisure and culture trusts as the Trust model is a
charitable third sector approach to service delivery.

Integration with other services provided by local authorities

Most leisure and culture trusts have strong partnerships with local educational
institutions and schools. They provide adult education schemes in libraries and other
community venues, early years provision, and school holiday programming of
various arts, sports and physical activities including adaptations of Streetgames’ Fit
and Fed programme.

To illustrate, Aura Leisure & Libraries delivered the Fit Fed and Read programme in
summer 2022. The aim of Fit and Fed is to create opportunities for physical activity,
and promote a healthy diet by providing healthy snacks at the end of each session.
Back in 2021, Aura colleagues decided to add an additional library element to the
sessions which focuses upon reading and creativity. The feedback from communities
for this project has been really positive.The headline figures showing 5,480
attendances with 2,875 meals served over 110 Volunteering hours, engaging with 10
different partners and 100+ meals to homeless shelters15.

As leisure and culture trusts operate a wide portfolio of facilities and programmes
beyond traditional leisure centres and libraries, including theatres, visitor attractions,
country parks and community centres, they integrate more physical activity and
cultural elements of their work, integrating this with wider economic development
plans of their local authorities. For example, Wellbeing@Merthyr are working with
local partners and are represented on local active travel and tourism boards.

15 For more information, please visit Aura Leisure & Libraries website:
https://aura.wales/looking-back-on-a-summer-of-fit-fed-and-read-sessions-with-aura-wales/

14 Welsh Government. A toolkit for insourcing in Wales. Available at:
https://www.gov.wales/a-toolkit-for-insourcing-in-wales-html

Page 7 of 10
Tudalen y pecyn 22

https://aura.wales/looking-back-on-a-summer-of-fit-fed-and-read-sessions-with-aura-wales/
https://www.gov.wales/a-toolkit-for-insourcing-in-wales-html


Further, public leisure and library services integrate care into communities. Their
portfolio not only provides reliable infrastructure across Wales to keep people well
nearer to home, away from clinical settings, but also considers people’s personal
preferences, needs and ability to engage. Their programmes and activities:

i. reduce inequalities in ill health by providing access to tailored and supervised
physical activity and cultural activity that improves people’s physical and
mental health.

ii. reduce the time patients spend in hospitals & in NHS care through
prehabilitation, rehabilitation, and preventative services.

We set out how this integrated and collaborative approach is supported by leisure
and culture trusts in our joint report with the Welsh NHS Confederation16.

In addition, Wales is fortunate to have a National Exercise Referral Scheme (NERS),
funded by Welsh Government, which standardises exercise referral opportunities
across all local authorities and local Health Boards17. NERS is managed locally by
leisure trusts and their workforce, providing an opportunity to the health sector to
offer a person-centred approach to healthy living considering personal preferences,
needs and ability to engage. The scheme is an evidenced based health intervention
that incorporates physical activity and behavioural change. The aim of NERS is to
reduce the inequalities in ill health by providing access to tailored and supervised
physical activity.

In addition, as part of their preventative and person-centred approach to health,
leisure and culture trusts manage social prescribing programmes. Social prescribing
enables health professionals to refer people to a range of local, non-clinical services,
offering a holistic way to health and enabling people to take greater ownership of
their own health. Examples include exercise referral, arts and culture activities,
books on prescription, gardening, health walks, and a range of sport activity.

Finally, leisure and culture trusts are a key partner for local government and
contribute significantly to local authorities’ statutory duties under the Wellbeing of
Future Generations Act18. The application of the Act warrants the inclusion of leisure
and culture trusts, not least because of the recognition it gives to arts, culture, sport
and leisure as the wider determinants of health, but because the trust model is
founded on cross-subsidy to ensure those communities who are in most need of
inclusive activities and services, can access them. Trusts:

18 For more information, please see our 2019 response to the consultation on Our Future Wales.
Available at: https://communityleisureuk.org/work/policy-strategy/#future-wales

17 Public Health Wales. Wales National Exercise Referral Scheme. Further information at:
https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/wales-national-exercise-referral-scheme/

16 Welsh NHS Confederation. Leisure and culture trusts health and wellbeing support to the NHS in
Wales. Available at:
https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/leisure-and-culture-trusts-health-and-wellbeing-support-nhs-w
ales

Page 8 of 10
Tudalen y pecyn 23

https://communityleisureuk.org/work/policy-strategy/#future-wales
https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/wales-national-exercise-referral-scheme/
https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/leisure-and-culture-trusts-health-and-wellbeing-support-nhs-wales
https://www.nhsconfed.org/publications/leisure-and-culture-trusts-health-and-wellbeing-support-nhs-wales


i. cross-subsidise services i.e. more profitable activities will subsidise other
health and community outreach work, and;

ii. cross-subsidise access i.e. using income from those who can afford to pay
is used to support reduced cost or free activities for those with less
disposable income.

Perceived benefits of alternative models of service delivery in Wales

As evidenced earlier, half of all public leisure delivery and local library services in
four local authorities in Wales is managed by leisure and culture trusts. Working
through the Trust model allows the local authority to focus on other services while
being assured that the public leisure and culture services are being managed with
the community and quality of the service at its forefront.

Research from Social Business Wales shows that 26% of all social businesses in
Wales operate in the community-based arts, leisure and recreation sectors. Their
analysis further suggests that most social businesses’ core purpose leads them to
work towards five of the seven well-being goals, including a more resilient,
prosperous, equal, healthy Wales and a Wales of cohesive communities19. They
highlight that:

“Social businesses are different from both classic private sector companies and
traditional charities because they strike a balance between the two, looking to trade
as any other business but also primarily existing to deliver on their social mission.”

Leisure and culture trusts are an example of such social business; they are
non-profit distributing organisations that operate on small margins. Any profit that is
generated is reinvested into providing accessible and inclusive services for
communities. These organisations do not have shareholders and are not private
businesses. They are governed by Trustees from the local community, are
transparent and share a fundamental commitment to supporting their community.

It is important to recognise the inherent public and social value and the distinct
operating environment and additional benefits offered through social enterprise and
charitable trust delivery models.

As organisations dedicated to: maximisation of public benefit, within available
resources; deep community integration, knowledge and engagement; promoting
community employment; and concerned with service sustainability and development,
rather than, exclusively, shareholder investment returns, they offer potentially greater
interest and focus on and long-term commitment to community benefit, development
and wealth-building. They form an integral part of the foundational economy.

19 Social Business Wales. Mapping the Social Business Sector in Wales / 2020 Census. Available at:
https://cwmpas.coop/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/3.2.7.-SBW-MAPPING-SOCIAL-BUSINESS-full-20
20-ENG.pdf

Page 9 of 10
Tudalen y pecyn 24

https://cwmpas.coop/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/3.2.7.-SBW-MAPPING-SOCIAL-BUSINESS-full-2020-ENG.pdf
https://cwmpas.coop/wp-content/uploads/2022/06/3.2.7.-SBW-MAPPING-SOCIAL-BUSINESS-full-2020-ENG.pdf


Stone King, legal experts in public benefit, social enterprise and charity, produced a
briefing on progressive commissioning and stated: “Leisure and Culture Trusts, as
charitable and/or public benefit companies, dedicated to such inherent Social Value,
are purpose-aligned with commissioning public authorities and may, on that basis, in
reality, be properly recognised as distinct from commercial market suppliers.” 20

Good practice to ensure sustainability of local leisure and library services

It is good practice where public leisure and library services are outsourced, for local
authorities to see their relationship with the leisure and culture trust as a partnership
rather than a client-supplier relationship. This includes the collaborative co-design
and co-development of services to address common aims, rather than simply
purchasing services at the lowest cost. Effective engagement should include leisure
and culture trusts in local strategic planning.

The strategic specification for public leisure and culture should include a focus on
“Public Value Imperatives”, which may include: being demonstrably purpose-driven;
demonstrably community engaged; and demonstrably serving social needs, for
example, in relation to well-being, health, education, social inclusion.

To ensure sustainable service delivery, local authorities need to have an ongoing
commitment to sustainable funding for the service. In the case of leisure and culture
trusts, this is most commonly done through management fees with an uplift linked to
CPI.

Further, to future proof the service and to support the move to net zero, there will
need to be separate investment into environmental efficiency. Local authorities need
to actively include local leisure and library facilities in any decarbonisation efforts,
and work closely with leisure and culture trusts to improve energy efficiency of
existing buildings.

For example, the collaboration between Newport Live and Newport City Council saw
over 2,000 solar panels installed on the rooftop at the Geraint Thomas National
Velodrome in Newport after they were able to access the Welsh Government’s Free
Energy Service for a full environmental audit and interest free loans21.

Finally, to support local authorities in their collaboration with social enterprises, there
is a checklist available from the Auditor General for Wales that enables them to
review their current approach and ensure alignment across departments and with the
wider voluntary and community sector22.

22 See footnote 10, Appendix 2: Checklist for local authorities for effectively engaging and working with
Social Enterprises

21 Egni Coop. New film launched featuring Geraint Thomas National Velodrome of Wales. Available at:
https://egni.coop/new-film-launched-featuring-geraint-thomas-national-velodrome-of-wales/

20 See footnote 8.

Page 10 of 10
Tudalen y pecyn 25

https://egni.coop/new-film-launched-featuring-geraint-thomas-national-velodrome-of-wales/


1 
 

  

Papur 2 

Gwasanaethau 
Awdurdodau 
Lleol a 
Llyfrgelloedd - 
Ymchwiliad 
Pwyllgor 
Llywodraeth 
Leol a Thai 
 
Ymateb 
Chwaraeon 
Cymru 

Tudalen y pecyn 26



2 
 

Gwybodaeth am Chwaraeon Cymru 

Chwaraeon Cymru yw’r sefydliad cenedlaethol sy’n gyfrifol am ddatblygu a hybu 
chwaraeon a gweithgarwch corfforol yng Nghymru. Rydyn ni'n cefnogi’r gwaith o 
gyflawni blaenoriaethau strategol drwy'r Weledigaeth ar gyfer Chwaraeon yng Nghymru 
a Strategaeth Chwaraeon Cymru. Rydyn ni'n dosbarthu arian Llywodraeth Cymru a 
grantiau'r Loteri Genedlaethol; yn buddsoddi mewn chwaraeon elît ac ar lawr gwlad er 
mwyn galluogi chwaraeon yng Nghymru i ffynnu. Rydyn ni am i Gymru fod yn genedl 
fwy actif, iachach, sy'n cynnig cyfleoedd i bawb fod yn actif. 

Mae Chwaraeon Cymru yn falch o allu ymateb i Ymchwiliad y Pwyllgor Llywodraeth Leol 
a Thai i Wasanaethau Awdurdodau Lleol a Hamdden. 

Sefyllfa bresennol darpariaeth gwasanaethau hamdden a llyfrgelloedd awdurdodau 
lleol; 

Rydyn ni'n gwybod bod darpariaeth hamdden awdurdodau lleol wedi wynebu amser 
anodd iawn ers nifer o flynyddoedd, gyda ffactorau yn amrywio o argyfwng Covid ac ar ôl 
hynny yn effeithio ar wasanaethau yn y ffyrdd canlynol: anhawster recriwtio, ffyrlo, costau 
ynni cynyddol, llai ffioedd aelodaeth a llai o bobl yn teimlo'n hyderus i ddefnyddio 
gwasanaethau. 

Er bod cymorth drwy'r pandemig wedi sicrhau bod y sector hamdden yng Nghymru yn 
gymharol wydn, nid yw hyn wedi diogelu darparwyr cyfleusterau yn erbyn yr argyfwng 
costau byw yn y dyfodol o ran llai o incwm, na'r gwariant cynyddol sy'n gysylltiedig â 
chwyddiant a chostau ynni cynyddol. Bydd cyfran sylweddol o'r cyfleusterau hamdden 
yng Nghymru, yn enwedig rhai â chyfleusterau pyllau nofio, dan bwysau gyda 
newidiadau i'r amserlenni o leiaf yn ganlyniad anochel. 

Yn bwysig, mae llawer o'r stoc adeiladau yn hŷn na'r dyddiad y dylid eu hamnewid, ac 
mae offer hŷn mewn perygl o ddadfeilio, gan arwain at fwy o gostau eto os bydd angen 
cau am gyfnod. Fel y gwelwyd yn ystod y pandemig, yn aml mae angen llawer iawn o 
asesiadau technegol ac iechyd a diogelwch i ailagor hefyd. 

Canfu UK Active fod gweithgareddau hamdden cyhoeddus yn cynhyrchu £3.3 biliwn 
mewn gwerth cymdeithasol o ran gwell iechyd, boddhad bywyd, a chyrhaeddiad 
addysgol bob blwyddyn, ac yn gweithio gyda rhai o'r grwpiau mwyaf agored i niwed yn 
ein cymdeithas.1 Nododd Prifysgol John Moores Lerpwl yn 20202 hefyd bod canran fawr 
o wasanaethau adsefydlu ar gyfer clefydau anhrosglwyddadwy yn digwydd mewn 
mannau hamdden cyhoeddus. Gydag uchelgais Llywodraeth Cymru i adeiladu ar 
bresgripsiynu cymdeithasol, efallai y byddai pwysigrwydd stoc hamdden awdurdodau 
lleol yn dod yn bwysicach nag erioed. 

                                                        
1 UK Active, The Decade of Change for Public Leisure, Gorffennaf 2021, ar gael yn 
https://www.ukactive.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/The-Decade-of-Change-for-PSL.pdf 
(cyrchwyd 8 Mawrth 2023) 
2 Prifysgol John Moores Lerpwl, Why the fitness and leisure sector should be awarded ‘essential 
service’ status – gan Professor Greg Whyte OBE, Tachwedd 2020, ar gael yn 
https://www.ljmu.ac.uk/about-us/news/articles/2020/11/17/unnamed-item (cyrchwyd 8 Mawrth 
2023) 

Tudalen y pecyn 27

https://www.ukactive.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/The-Decade-of-Change-for-PSL.pdf
https://www.ljmu.ac.uk/about-us/news/articles/2020/11/17/unnamed-item


3 
 

Nid yn unig mae darparwyr yn bwysig yn eu cymunedau o ran cyflwyno rhaglenni iechyd 
a lles ar eu safleoedd, maent hefyd yn gyflogwyr pwysig yn yr economi leol. Mae 
Community Leisure UK yn dweud bod tua 3,000 o aelodau o staff ym maes hamdden 
awdurdodau lleol ar draws Cymru a bod nifer sylweddol o bobl 18–30 oed yn rhan o'r 
gweithlu.3  

Yr heriau ariannol a gweithredol sy'n wynebu awdurdodau lleol i gynnal y 
gwasanaethau cymunedol hanfodol hyn; 

Yn ystod pandemig Covid-19, cafodd ymddiriedolaethau hamdden gymorth sylweddol 
drwy'r Gronfa Galedi i lywodraeth leol a llwyddodd i gael mynediad at gyllid penodol i’r 
sector a ddarparwyd gan Chwaraeon Cymru a thrwy'r Gronfa Adferiad Diwylliannol; cylch 
ariannu untro. 

Roedd disgwyl y byddai 2022 yn flwyddyn bwysig i adferiad ymddiriedolaethau ac y 
byddem yn gweld mwy o bobl yn ôl mewn darpariaeth hamdden, fodd bynnag wrth i 
bwysau byd-eang gynyddu ar gostau bwyd a byw, gweithgaredd corfforol a 
gweithgareddau hamdden oedd rhai o'r pethau yr oedd pobl yn teimlo ei bod yn bosibl 
eu torri o'u cyllidebau, gan ychwanegu mwy fyth o bwysau ar ymddiriedolaethau 
hamdden awdurdodau lleol. 

Bu cynnydd yng nghostau ynni hefyd. Mae Chwaraeon Cymru wedi ymateb i'r her hon 
drwy agor ei ffrydiau ariannu cyfalaf i awdurdodau lleol ac ymddiriedolaethau hamdden 
ar gyfer buddsoddiadau ynni gwyrdd, fel paneli solar, a fydd yn cael effaith gadarnhaol ar 
yr agenda cynaliadwyedd ac arwain at lai o gostau ynni ar yr un pryd. Ond mae cwmpas 
yr her yn ymestyn y tu hwnt i allu'r arian cyfalaf sydd ar gael i Chwaraeon Cymru. 

Mae ein Traciwr Gweithgareddau Cymru wedi dangos diffyg hyder ar ôl y pandemig 
ymysg cyfranogwyr i gael mynediad at gyfleusterau hamdden. Wrth i gyfleusterau 
hamdden agor o ganol 2020 ymlaen, nododd llawer o ymatebwyr nad oeddent yn 
hyderus mynd i weithgareddau dan do.4 Dechreuwyd gweld rhywfaint o welliant mewn 
hyder wrth i'r rhaglen frechu gael ei chyflwyno5, er hynny roedd hyder yn dal yn isel. 
Roedd hyn yn cael ei yrru gan bobl â chyflyrau iechyd presennol, pobl hŷn a menywod. 

Ond hyd yn oed nawr, dair blynedd wedi dechrau'r pandemig, mae bron i hanner 
oedolion Cymru yn dweud nad ydyn nhw'n teimlo'n hyderus mewn cwrtiau dan do, nid 
yw dau o bob pump yn teimlo'n hyderus mewn stiwdios na neuaddau chwaraeon, ac 
mae dros draean yn teimlo'n ansicr mewn campfeydd/ystafelloedd iechyd a ffitrwydd. 

                                                        
3 Community Leisure UK, Adroddiad Cymru, Cost of living report, Public Leisure in Crisis, 
Tachwedd 2022, ar gael yn https://communityleisureuk.org/work/latest-sector-landscape-
reports/#wales-crisis (cyrchwyd 7 Mawrth 2023) 
4 Chwaraeon Cymru, Data Savanta ComRes, Arolwg 2, Hydref 2020, ar gael yn 
https://www.chwaraeon.cymru/comres/comres-survey-2/, cyrchwyd 1 Mawrth 2023 
5 Chwaraeon Cymru, Data Savanta ComRes, Arolwg 3, Mawrth 2021, ar gael yn 
https://www.chwaraeon.cymru/ymchwil-a-gwybodaeth/comres/arolwg-comres-3-mawrth-2021/, 
cyrchwyd 1 Mawrth 2023 

Tudalen y pecyn 28

https://communityleisureuk.org/work/latest-sector-landscape-reports/#wales-crisis
https://communityleisureuk.org/work/latest-sector-landscape-reports/#wales-crisis
https://www.chwaraeon.cymru/comres/comres-survey-2/
https://www.chwaraeon.cymru/ymchwil-a-gwybodaeth/comres/arolwg-comres-3-mawrth-2021/


4 
 

Mae'r duedd hon yn parhau i gael ei gyrru i raddau helaeth gan ymatebwyr benywaidd, 
yn ogystal â rhai hŷn.6 

Ar ben hynny mae'r argyfwng costau byw hefyd yn cael effaith andwyol ar weithredu 
cyfleusterau hamdden. Mae dau o bob pump wnaeth ymateb i'n harolwg chwarterol yn 
dweud bod yr argyfwng costau byw wedi cael effaith negyddol ar eu gallu i fod yn actif, 
tra bod traean yn dweud eu bod wedi bod yn gwneud llai o chwaraeon a gweithgarwch 
corfforol oherwydd y newidiadau i gostau byw.  

Bydd y newid hwn mewn cyfranogiad yn effeithio ar nifer y cwsmeriaid sy'n talu ac sy'n 
gallu cael mynediad at gyfleusterau hamdden yng Nghymru. Yn wir, mae un o bob 
pedwar hefyd yn dweud bod y newidiadau i gostau byw yn golygu eu bod/y byddant yn 
newid i weithgareddau rhatach/am ddim, tra bod un o bob pump yn dweud y 
byddant/eu bod yn/wedi cymryd rhan mewn llai o weithgareddau y mae’n rhaid talu 
amdanynt neu maent yn gwario llai ar ddillad/offer chwaraeon.7 

Mae trefniadau awdurdodau lleol a strategaethau ymadael lle mae modelau cyflenwi 
amgen wedi’u defnyddio yn aflwyddiannus; 

Amh 

Sut mae darparu gwasanaethau eraill a ddarperir gan awdurdodau lleol yn cyd-fynd â 
gwasanaethau hamdden a llyfrgelloedd; 

Mae Chwaraeon Cymru yn gweithredu rhaglen flaenllaw sy'n ymwneud â'i gwaith o 
ddarparu chwaraeon mewn awdurdodau lleol, a'i fuddsoddiad. Mae'r model 
Partneriaeth Chwaraeon Rhanbarthol (RSP) yn elfen allweddol yn y gwaith o annog mwy 
o gydweithio o ran adnoddau, arbenigedd a chyfleoedd ymhlith cyrff cyhoeddus a 
phartneriaid mewn ardal leol. 

Drwy’r Partneriaethau hyn, mae Chwaraeon Cymru yn hwyluso partneriaethau sy'n mynd 
y tu hwnt i ddarparwyr chwaraeon traddodiadol. Mae hyn yn golygu dod â gwahanol 
wasanaethau awdurdodau lleol ynghyd â chwaraeon a hamdden, ond hefyd partneriaid 
gwahanol gan gynnwys prifysgolion, cymdeithasau tai, elusennau'r trydydd sector, Cyrff 
Rheoli Cenedlaethol Chwaraeon ac eraill sy'n gallu gwella a chyflymu newid yn yr hyn y 
gall chwaraeon ei gynnig. 

Cyflawnwyd y newid hwn drwy gyd-fynd â pholisïau gweithio rhanbarthol Llywodraeth 
Cymru a dymuniad i gefnogi cyfleoedd sy'n gallu mynd i'r afael â'r anghydraddoldebau 
ystyfnig o ran cyfranogiad ymhlith gwahanol adrannau o'r gymuned. Mae hefyd yn 
gydnabyddiaeth bod gan awdurdodau lleol nifer o ofynion sy'n darparu gwasanaethau 
hanfodol i'w poblogaethau, a gyda dulliau gweithio clyfar ar draws cyrff cyhoeddus, 
elusennau, a mentrau sy'n darparu cynigion hamdden, dylai chwaraeon a gweithgarwch 
corfforol ar draws ardal ddod yn fwy cynaliadwy. 

Sut mae awdurdodau lleol yn defnyddio modelau amgen o ran darparu 
gwasanaethau yng Nghymru, a'r manteision tybiedig sy'n gysylltiedig â nhw; 

                                                        
6 Chwaraeon Cymru, Data Savanta ComRes, Arolwg 7, Ionawr 2023, ar gael yn 
https://www.chwaraeon.cymru/ymchwil-a-gwybodaeth/comres/arolwg-traciwr-gweithgareddau-
cymru-7-ionawr-2023/, cyrchwyd 6 Mawrth 2023 
7 Ibid 

Tudalen y pecyn 29

https://www.chwaraeon.cymru/ymchwil-a-gwybodaeth/comres/arolwg-traciwr-gweithgareddau-cymru-7-ionawr-2023/
https://www.chwaraeon.cymru/ymchwil-a-gwybodaeth/comres/arolwg-traciwr-gweithgareddau-cymru-7-ionawr-2023/


5 
 

Mae nifer o awdurdodau lleol yng Nghymru eisoes yn gweithio gyda chyrff gwahanol yn 
eu hardal i ddarparu datblygiad chwaraeon a chwaraeon. Mae rhai enghreifftiau o'r rhain 
isod. 

Caiff darpariaeth datblygu chwaraeon yng Nghaerdydd ei gydlynu drwy Chwaraeon 
Caerdydd, sy'n cael ei chynnal gan MET Caerdydd.8 Mae gan Chwaraeon Caerdydd 
raglenni sy'n ymwneud â chwaraeon cymunedol y maent yn eu defnyddio i geisio mynd 
i'r afael ag anghydraddoldebau ac maent wedi llunio strategaeth ddyfrol gyda bwriadau 
allweddol o ran diogelwch a dysgu. Mae ei brosiect Symud Mwy yn cefnogi cymunedau 
llai actif drwy bresgripsiynu cymdeithasol; a chwaraeon iau i annog arferion iach gyda 
phobl ifanc. 

Mae Newport Live yn cyflwyno Datblygiad Chwaraeon a Chelf yn ogystal ag ystod o 
gyfleusterau hamdden ac yn gweithio gydag ysgolion, teuluoedd a grwpiau cymunedol 
eraill ar ran Cyngor Sir Casnewydd. Cânt eu llywodraethu gan fwrdd ymddiriedolwyr fel 
ymddiriedolaeth elusennol gofrestredig ac maent yn cael eu gweithredu ar ran Cyngor 
Dinas Casnewydd.  

Menter gymdeithasol yn Hwlffordd yw Academi Cryfder Cymru (nid er elw ac er budd y 
gymuned). Caiff gwaith cymunedol ei oruchwylio gan Fwrdd o chwe chyfarwyddwr. 
Mae'r cwmni'n cael ei reoli'n wirfoddol gyda rhai swyddi cyflogedig rhan amser. Maent 
yn gweithio mewn partneriaeth â Pembrokeshire Leisure, yn cefnogi pobl leol drwy 
wahanol lwybrau chwaraeon, yn ogystal â’r gymuned, o grwpiau o weithgareddau i 
fenywod yn unig i sesiynau heneiddio da ac anabledd dysgu hefyd. Maen nhw hefyd yn 
bartner gydag ysgol gymunedol Gorllewin Hwlffordd i ddefnyddio cyfleusterau ar gyfer y 
gymuned. 

Ymddiriedolaethau Hamdden. Yn debyg i gwmni Newport Live, mae nifer o 
awdurdodau lleol yng Nghymru yn gweithredu eu cyfleusterau hamdden drwy 
Ymddiriedolaethau Hamdden. Naill ai wedi’u sefydlu "yn fewnol" neu wedi'u comisiynu i 
ymddiriedolaethau mwy yn y DU fel Freedom Leisure neu GLL (Greenwich Leisure 
Limited).  Mae nifer o fodelau ar draws Cymru, sy'n cynnwys pob cyfleuster awdurdod 
lleol neu ddim ond nifer o safleoedd penodol. 

Arfer da i sicrhau cynaliadwyedd gwasanaethau hamdden a llyfrgelloedd lleol i 
genedlaethau'r dyfodol. 

Mae llawer o fodelau gwahanol a allai weithio i gymunedau lleol. Mae enghreifftiau o'r 
uchod wedi nodi ymddiriedolaethau mwy yn y DU hyd at elusennau llai yn y gymuned. 
Ynghyd ag AB ac AU yn buddsoddi mewn cyfleusterau a darpariaeth gymunedol, fel 
Prifysgolion MET Caerdydd, Abertawe, Aberystwyth a Bangor, y gallai pob un ohonynt 
gynnig cyfleoedd i'r gymuned leol ehangach yn ogystal â gwasanaethau i fyfyrwyr. 

Actif Gogledd Cymru yw'r Bartneriaeth Chwaraeon Rhanbarthol gyntaf i gael ei lansio ac 
mae ganddi dîm canolog i reoli'r gwaith o lywodraethu a chyflawni ei strategaeth a'i 
darpariaeth ar draws y rhanbarth. Mae hyn yn cynnwys cyfarwyddwr rhanbarthol, 
rheolwr partneriaeth a swyddog cymorth busnes. Mae'r bartneriaeth go iawn yn cynnwys 
y chwe awdurdod lleol (Conwy, Ynys Môn, Sir y Fflint, Sir Ddinbych, Gwynedd a Wrecsam) 
a'u cyflawnwyr gweithgareddau, yn ogystal ag Iechyd Cyhoeddus Cymru a Bwrdd Iechyd 

                                                        
8 https://cy.sportcardiff.co.uk/home, cyrchwyd 8 Mawrth 2023 

Tudalen y pecyn 30

https://cy.sportcardiff.co.uk/home


6 
 

Betsi Cadwaladr, Prifysgolion Glyndŵr a Bangor, Chwaraeon Anabledd Cymru, 
gwasanaeth gwella ysgolion rhanbarthol GwE a'r chwe chymdeithas tai. 

Drwy'r bartneriaeth hon maent yn anelu i gyflawni eu gweledigaeth 10 mlynedd sef ‘cael 
pawb yng Ngogledd Cymru yn fwy actif, gan fyw bywydau iachach a hapusach', yn 
ogystal â'u cenhadaeth 10 mlynedd 'mae gan bawb yng Ngogledd Cymru fynediad at 
fannau a lleoedd diogel; cyfleoedd amrywiol i fod yn actif bob dydd'. 

Mae llawer o'r modelau hyn yn estyn allan y tu hwnt i ddarpariaeth hamdden 
draddodiadol ac i fyd addysg, eu cymunedau, a chanolbwyntio ar grwpiau unigol sy'n llai 
actif, ac sydd â llai o gyfle i fod yn actif. 

Mae Chwaraeon Cymru yn gweithio gyda'r meysydd eraill fydd yn dod yn Bartneriaethau 
Chwaraeon er mwyn archwilio'r math o fodel gweithio a fydd yn briodol iddynt. Ar hyn o 
bryd mae Partneriaeth Ranbarthol Gorllewin Cymru yn gweithio tuag at sefydlu cwmni 
cyfyngedig drwy warant. 

Mae'r tri arall, sef Canol De Cymru, Gwent, a'r Canolbarth yn cael eu datblygu, a'r disgwyl 
yw y byddant yn weithredol i dderbyn cyllid Chwaraeon Cymru erbyn mis Ebrill 2024. 

Wedi'u grymuso i sicrhau newid yn y system, nhw fydd y catalydd i fynd i'r afael â dau 
fater hirsefydlog: 

1. Sicrhau bod y gefnogaeth a'r cyfleoedd cywir yn eu lle ar gyfer y rhai nad ydynt yn 
actif yn gorfforol yn rheolaidd - gan ganolbwyntio'n glir ar gael gwared ar rwystrau 
i'r rhai sydd fwyaf angen yr help; 

2. Cymryd camau i ateb y galw cudd uchel gan y rhai sy'n actif ond sydd eisiau 
gwneud llawer mwy. 

Pa bynnag fodel gweithio sy'n cael ei ddewis, mae’r manteision i awdurdodau lleol, cyrff 
cyhoeddus, elusennau, endidau ym maes iechyd, tai ac addysg sy'n gweithio gyda'i 
gilydd i fynd i'r afael ag anghydraddoldebau a chyfraddau cyfranogi isel yn yr ardal y 
maent wedi'u lleoli ynddi yn gyfle newydd a chyffrous i wella cynaliadwyedd 
gweithgarwch corfforol a’r hyn sydd gan chwaraeon i’w gynnig. 

Emma Henwood 

Rheolwr Polisi a Materion Cyhoeddus 

Mawrth 2023 

Tudalen y pecyn 31



Papur 3/Paper 3 
 

 

Local Authority Library and Leisure Services - Cwmpas Inquiry 

Response 

Cwmpas is a co-operative economic development agency working for positive change in 

Wales. Our focus is on building a fairer, greener economy and a more equal society, where 

communities are empowered and people and planet come first. 

We deliver a range of services including Social Business Wales, Digital Communities Wales, 

Communities Creating Homes and Community Shares Wales. In addition, we provide 

consultancy to a diverse range of clients. Our extensive work supporting communities and 

social enterprises across the country means we have unique experience and insights into 

how we can transform the Welsh economy, and the support communities need to lead the 

way. 

In recent years, we have supported communities across Wales to take over management and 

ownership of key local assets, including within the leisure and libraries sectors. There has 

been a range of experiences, some which highlight the capacity within communities to save 

these assets and the benefits that can come these models, and some which highlight the 

challenges and barriers to this taking place in a successful and sustainable way. 

The current state of local authority leisure and library service provision; 

As noted in the Committee’s introduction to the inquiry, there are several models for 

delivering these services in Wales, such as social enterprise, cultural trusts, community-led 

enterprises and LATCs. We have supported communities to save and take over local assets in 

different ways across the country. In a recent report, Community Leisure UK outlined that 

“Leisure and culture trusts operate public leisure services in 50% of all local authorities in 

Wales, and manage libraries in four local authority areas. They also operate parks and 

playgrounds, theatres, town halls and cultural centres. Collectively, they manage 115 physical 

buildings in communities across nearly every region in Wales, welcome over 16.6 million 

visits a year, and have a combined workforce of over 3000 people.”1.  

How local authorities use alternative models of service delivery in Wales, and the 

perceived benefits associated with them; 

When managed effectively in a way that develops these services and facilities as community 

assets, alternative models of service delivery can provide essential services and create 

considerable social value. These are outlined below: 

Social enterprise and community-led ownership benefits  

The social enterprise model creates multi-faceted benefits for communities beyond the 

delivery of community-based services. Our 2022 Mapping exercise has found that social 

enterprises across Wales produce significant social value, including improving health and 

well-being, supporting vulnerable people and addressing social exclusion, creating 

employment opportunities and providing access to services. It also found that 66% of social 

                                                           
1 https://communityleisureuk.org/work/latest-sector-landscape-reports/  

Tudalen y pecyn 32

https://communityleisureuk.org/work/latest-sector-landscape-reports/


 

 

enterprises pay the UK Living Wage to all staff - considerably higher than the wider private 

sector.  

The triple bottom line is crucial to the impact of the social enterprise model. It means that 

social enterprises re-invest their profits in a social or environmental mission, and prioritise 

making a positive impact in their communities and to the mission to combat climate change 

to at least the same extent as financial considerations. The social enterprise model facilitates 

the innovation and responsiveness of the private sector while taking the focus away from 

solely delivering money to stakeholders, and can be key to the development of vibrant, 

thriving communities. 

Anchored in communities  

Community-led ownership structures anchor management of assets in local communities, 

meaning decisions are made by those are who are affected most. The “Understanding a 

maturing community shares market”2 report explored the impact of community shares as a 

sustainable financing option, and found it to be an innovative, accessible investment model 

that has become a popular approach to raising finance. It is unique to co-operative and 

community benefit societies – businesses owned and run by local communities across the 

UK. By investing, individuals can support business and organisations important to themselves 

and their communities and become co-owners of the business in the process. The report 

found that these organisations have a 92% survival rate after 5 years, demonstrating the 

long-term impact and sustainability of this model of delivery.3 

Community wealth building  

It is also vital that we see these assets as being crucial to the wider economy. A significant, 

positive example of this in Wales is Awen Cultural Trust4 in Bridgend, which was established 

in 2015 as a charitable organisation with objectives to enhance cultural opportunities in 

Bridgend and the wider region. The people involved were highly-skilled and experienced in 

the cultural sector, and have made a significant impact between 2015 and 2023. Financially, 

the Trust has been successful, and have been able to invest £5.4m in delivering their 

charitable activities.  

Between 2022-23, 1,908 library events have taken place aimed at improving social, digital 

and economic inclusion, well-being and community engagement. They develop new ideas, 

through innovative collaborations and partnerships. The year before, in 2021-22, 206,426 

people visited the library. Awen Cultural Trust states that, “Ensuring everyone has equal 

access to the power and pleasure of reading, information and ideas, experiencing new ideas, 

getting lost in wonderful stories, meeting new people, while at the same time providing a 

sense of place,” is central to their work.  

These assets can also be crucial to wider social missions, such as fighting against digital 

exclusion. 28,048 hours of PC access have been provided to users by Awen Cultural Trust, 

                                                           
2 https://plunkett.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/community-shares-report-2020-FINAL.pdf  
3 https://plunkett.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/community-shares-report-2020-FINAL.pdf  
4 https://www.awen-wales.com/our-impact/our-outcomes/  

Tudalen y pecyn 33

https://plunkett.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/community-shares-report-2020-FINAL.pdf
https://plunkett.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/community-shares-report-2020-FINAL.pdf
https://www.awen-wales.com/our-impact/our-outcomes/


 

 

helping individuals to gain information important to their everyday lives, including 

education, work and social networks, as well as increasing employability through improved 

digital skills training and support. 

Public health/Social prescribing  

Public Health Wales have made clear that the cost-of-living crisis is having a profound 

impact on public health.5 It is vital that we see community-based library and leisure services 

as key assets in this context. These buildings can be community hubs, engaging and bringing 

communities together, reducing social isolation and improving mental health and well-being. 

Removing these assets and services from communities can have a profound impact on an 

already dangerous and worsening public health crisis, and ensuring a consistent and 

sustainable delivery of library and leisure services can be a key preventative measure and 

investment for our health and care services. This is highly relevant to the Welsh 

Government’s exploration of social prescribing and the development of a social prescribing 

framework for Wales. For social prescribing to have the most impact possible across the 

country, it is essential that the delivery of community-based services and activities are 

sustainable. Social enterprise and community-led management of these assets is a potential 

way of ensuring that this sustainable delivery is possible.  

Good practice to ensure sustainability of local leisure and library services for future 

generations. 

Different models and contexts have taught us different lessons. It is important to note the 

context to the Awen Cultural Trust case study – the people involved in starting the Trust and 

building it from the ground-up had an extremely high level of knowledge, skills, expertise, 

and a supportive policy and political context, with a very positive relationship with the Local 

Authority. In contrast, other examples of communities coming together to run key local 

assets that were highly valued by local people have seen communities have to come 

together in an emergency capacity. These assets were previously often either failing 

commercially or under threat of closure due to budget cuts within local authorities at a time 

of austerity. This process is highly demanding of individuals’ time, needs high levels of skill 

and capacity, often involves considerable financial commitments and even taking on serious 

liabilities.  

We must not presume that community ownership is an easy answer to budgetary pressures 

within local authorities. To maximise the benefits of community ownership and management, 

this must be facilitated in a way that nurtures and supports community groups within a wider 

framework of community wealth building. Specialist support for community groups, as well 

as networks to promote best practice, would be essential to developing this form of public 

service delivery across Wales in a sustainable way. The best examples of this across Wales are 

when local authorities, other public bodies, or key institutions such as housing associations 

have taken a leadership role, facilitating communities to develop their own role in a 

sustainable and proportionate way.  

                                                           
5 https://phw.nhs.wales/news/cost-of-living-crisis-a-public-health-emergency/  

Tudalen y pecyn 34

https://phw.nhs.wales/news/cost-of-living-crisis-a-public-health-emergency/


Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 35

Eitem 5Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 38

Eitem 6 Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 42

Eitem 7 Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Gwella Cartrefi, Newid Bywydau 
Improving Homes, Changing Lives 

Mae Care & Repair Cymru 2015 Cyf. yn elusen gofrestredig. Rhif Elusen 1163542 
Care & Repair Cymru 2015 Ltd is a registered charity. Charity Number 1163542 

Tŷ Mariners, Heol East 
Moors, Caerdydd, CF24 5TD 

Mariners House, East Moors 
Road, Cardiff, CF24 

1. Examine how incorporating the right to adequate housing into Welsh law would

work in practise

Care & Repair Cymru is Wales’ Older People’s Housing Champion. Every day, Care & Repair 

sees older people in Wales living in unfit and unsafe housing, with few opportunities to improve 

their situation. Older people are more likely than any other demographic to own their own home. 

The rising cost-of-living and a shortage of contractors have contributed to the deterioration and 

disrepair of many properties. Without Care & Repair’s intervention, thousands of vulnerable 

older adults are increasingly at risk due to unfit, unchecked and unresolved housing issues.   

For Care & Repair, the right to adequate housing has always been at the heart of what we do. 

Ensuring all older people in Wales have access to homes that are safe, warm, suitably adapted 

to their needs, and supports them as they age is our priority. In 2021-2022, Care & Repair 

provided support to 56,897 older people across Wales, completing over 58,000 individual works 

for older people in Wales to enable them to live safely and independently in their own home.  

Immediate, practical solutions to help solve housing disrepair: 

In January 2023, Care & Repair published a new report ‘The State of Older People’s Housing in 

Wales’1. This report draws on the experiences of Care & Repair staff, including our Technical 

Officers who are responsible for fitting adaptations and facilities as required. The report 

highlights the urgency of thousands of older people living in inadequate housing right now, 

today, in Wales. Nearly 1 in 5 homes in Wales have a Category 1 Hazard present, rising to 

nearly 1 in 3 for homes built before 1919. With Wales having a median EPC (Energy 

Performance Certificate) rating of Band D, the need for energy efficiency and home insulation is 

key to protecting energy bills and health. Our clients tend to be low-income, and the cost-of-

living crisis means they are even less likely to be able to afford work in a volatile environment, 

so they have no choice but to turn to Care & Repair.  A long-term ambition to incorporate the 

right to adequate housing must be supplemented with a series of practicably implemented 

policy solutions implemented over the short and medium term. For this reason, Care & Repair 

are calling for a safety net grant to tackle disrepair in owner occupied and private rented tenures 

for vulnerable older people who would otherwise have to live in unfit housing.   

Mandatory accessible housing targets: 

Wales has already adopted a ‘Lifetime Homes’ approach through its Beautiful Homes and 

Spaces quality standards for affordable homes. Despite this, only one out of 22 Local 

Authorities in Wales has an accessible housing building target. However, the standard mostly 

applies to new builds. Many Care & Repair clients will not move home again in their lifetime, 

unless to seek residential care or supported living. Welsh Government cannot overlook owner 

occupiers with changing needs throughout the life course when it comes to accessible housing. 

By 2035, 58% of people over 65 are predicted to have a mobility impairment. Without forward 

Papur 4/Paper 4

Tudalen y pecyn 58

http://www.careandrepair.org.uk/


 
The Right to Adequate Housing – Local Government and Hosing Committee 

February 2023 | 2 

planning and investment based on population need, the Welsh housing stock will be 

increasingly unfit for purpose for an ageing population with increasingly complex needs.2   

In practise, the creation of accessible housing must be a key feature in allowing equal access to 

adequate housing for those with physical adaptation needs. Disabled people are 

disproportionately and systemically locked out of housing options due to a lack of accessible 

homes that are adapted to their needs, or the cost of creating a home that is suitable for their 

needs is seen as unviable. ‘Locked Out: liberating disabled people’s lives and rights in Wales 

beyond COVID-19’ comments on the necessity to provide housing adapted to suit the needs of 

disabled people:  

‘Urgent financial support is needed for disabled people who require adaptations to their living 

spaces and for disabled homeowners to retain their adapted properties. In the long-term, we 

recommend more research and analysis is undertaken into the barriers to high quality housing 

and home ownership for disabled people in Wales, particularly those in receipt of benefits 

relating to disability/long-term health conditions.’    

We believe there should be a specific requirement on all Local Authorities to commit to creating 

an accessible housing building target. This will mean that disabled people and people needing 

adaptations will have a greater choice of housing options and locations and will be able to 

access suitable housing in their chosen community.  

Review of Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) means-test removal to support accessible housing 

demand:  

In April 2021 Welsh Government issued guidance for Local Authorities to remove the means 

test for small and medium DFGs across Wales under Regulatory Reform Order 2002. We asked 

our Care & Repair Agencies whether, as of February 2023, this guidance had been adhered to 

in their local area with mixed results:  

• Ten local authorities had removed the means test. Some of these local authorities have 

reached capacity and have stopped accepting applications.  

• Five local authorities had removed the means test up to a certain value, ranging from 

between £8,000 and £16,000.  

• One local authority had removed the means test but reinstated it due to over demand for 

the grant.  

• Six local authorities still apply the means test entirely.  

Alongside this announcement, Welsh Government increased the Enable grant by £400,000 to 

£4.4million. From our scoping exercise, it is clear that Welsh Government guidance on the 

Tudalen y pecyn 59



 
The Right to Adequate Housing – Local Government and Hosing Committee 

February 2023 | 3 

removal of the means test is not being followed in some areas, and where it is, capital funding 

and capacity issues are meaning there is a postcode lottery of accessibility for DFGs across 

Wales, despite good intentions.    

Incorporating existing policy levers to maximise opportunity:   

Wales already has some policy levers at its disposal to integrate the right to adequate housing. 

Incorporating this right into Welsh law is fundamental to creating a Wales that is meeting the 

seven goals of the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (2015). This right addresses each of the 

seven goals, which are regarded as pillars for creating a Welsh society fit for now and the 

future.  

The UN Covenant gives the definition of ‘adequate’ as ‘… the right of everyone to an adequate 

standard of living for himself and his family, including adequate food, clothing and housing, and 

to the continuous improvement of living conditions.’3 Whilst this inquiry is primarily focussed on 

the provision of adequate housing, there is the opportunity for us to consider the place of 

adequate housing in a wider context for Wales and create spaces that addresses all the above. 

For Care & Repair, there must be a clear definition of ‘adequate’ to be used and applied across 

sectors and legislation, to ensure that there is no miscommunication or misapplication of the 

wording to provide substandard or unsuitable housing.  

The Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) has stated that ‘Under 

international law, to be adequately housed means having secure tenure—not having to worry 

about being evicted or having your home or lands taken away. It means living somewhere that 

is in keeping with your culture, and having access to appropriate services, schools, and 

employment.’ 4 This security of home, to be fully equitable, must be afforded to all housing and 

tenure types under the right to adequate housing. For older owner-occupiers, this means the 

right to stay in their home for as long as they choose and are empowered and supported to do 

so. This means they are not forced to move into another house, care homes or other 

accommodation against their will, and are protected should they refuse. This right would support 

many of the Principles in the United Nations Principles for Older Persons (1991) (UNPOP), 

including that ‘older persons should be able to reside at home for as long as possible’ and ‘older 

persons should be able to live in environments that are safe and adaptable to personal 

preferences and changing capacities.’5 We believe that by introducing this right into law, these 

beliefs from UNPOP will give further protection to older people living in their own homes, as 

currently this is not always seen as a positive or viable solution for our ageing population.   

The right actively states that, for adequate housing to be met, it must at a minimum meet the 

following criteria (among others);  

Tudalen y pecyn 60



 
The Right to Adequate Housing – Local Government and Hosing Committee 

February 2023 | 4 

• Habitability: Housing is not adequate if it does not guarantee physical safety or provide 

adequate space, as well as protection against the cold, damp, heat, rain, wind, other 

threats to health and structural hazards.  

•  Accessibility: Housing is not adequate if the specific needs of disadvantaged and 

marginalized groups are not taken into account.  

• Security of tenure: Housing is not adequate if its occupants do not have a degree of 

tenure security which guarantees legal protection against forced evictions, harassment 

and other threats.  

For Care & Repair, ‘adequate’ means very similar things to what is described in the UN 

definition – that housing is warm, safe, accessible for those with additional needs, affordable 

and a place that someone feels comfortable growing older in. In 2018, it was predicted that 

there would be 39,113 people aged 90 or over living in Wales by 2033, rising to 55,987 by 

20436. In 2020, it was predicted that there would be 750,000 people over the age of 65 living in 

Wales by 20287 – just five years away. This means that almost every fourth person in Wales will 

be over 65 by 2028. So, whilst we may currently have housing that is suitable for our younger 

generations, the adequacy of the Welsh housing stock and suitability of it for the needs of the 

changing population may be in question in a few decades’ time.   

2. Identify any challenges and barriers to taking this policy forward  

Financial  

The significant scale of the issue and time it would take to resolve a fundamentally Wales-wide 

issue would mean that funding would need to be allocated and committed beyond the scope of 

the sixth Senedd, as it is unlikely that change on a Wales-wide scale would be achieved in a 

single Senedd term. Committing such funding would mandate future Welsh Governments to 

invest in this policy for it to be successful. However, such commitments made by future 

iterations of Welsh Government would not be guaranteed unless the Bill becomes law.  

Care & Repair’s The State of Older People’s Housing report highlighted the increasing pressure 

our service is coming under due to rising costs. Within this report, one of the challenges 

identified was the impact of cost increases on this work. Our Technical Officers report that;  

“The general price of doing a bathroom adaptation, where we would take out everything in the 

bathroom and replace everything with either a low-level shower or a wet room, was around 

about the £5,000 mark - that was our in- house team that was doing that, which is really quite 

competitive. Because the cost of things has gone up, we’re now looking at £6,000 / £6,500 

average.” - Technical Officer, South Wales  

Tudalen y pecyn 61



 
The Right to Adequate Housing – Local Government and Hosing Committee 

February 2023 | 5 

“At start the cost of everything has gone up because material prices have skyrocketed. Steel 

price for grab rails is up 50%.” Caseworker, South East Wales  

“I mean, three or four years ago a sheet of plaster board was probably about £6 or £7, it’s now 

about £18 or £19 a sheet, and I know 12 months ago we couldn’t get hold of plaster board at 

all.” Senior Technical Officer, North Wales  

“I’ve got contractors now that are providing quotes and saying that they are valid for seven 

days, whereas I used to have contractors saying they are valid for six months, because the 

contractors just can’t hold the prices. And that creates all sorts of problems.” Senior Technical 

Officer, North Wales  

These price increases are unsustainable both for organisations like Care & Repair, as well as 

older homeowners themselves. Currently the cost of adaptations needed to make homes 

physically accessible are becoming financially unviable. With many older people in receipt of a 

Basic State Pension entitling them to the basic rate of less than £8,000 per year, it is clear to 

see why intervention from Care & Repair is needed. We anticipate this to increase as the cost-

of-living crisis deepens and our ageing population means we have more people becoming 

eligible for support.  

Likewise, in June 2019, Public Health Wales published ‘Making a Difference Housing and 

Health: A Case for Investment’8. This report states that poor quality housing is costing the 

Welsh NHS upwards of £95 million every single year in treatment costs for falls, cardiovascular 

conditions or respiratory infections caused by substandard housing. The report also states that 

action to mitigate poor housing could provide a return on investment within six years, if actioned 

soon.   

Skills gap  

A shortage of technical tradespeople in Wales means the competition and cost for works is 

higher than before the pandemic and increasing cost of living. This results in longer waits for 

work. Older people waiting for assistance are living in unsafe and cold conditions for longer than 

before.  

Competition creates a challenging environment for organisations like Care & Repair to work in, 

as private work funded by individuals provides a faster, more lucrative source of income for 

contractors and is not subject to the level of safeguarding and quality checks that contractors 

employed by Care & Repair face.  

“[a shortage of apprentices] has been an ongoing thing… since I can remember from the 80s 

even. I mean, there’s been various schemes in the building industry, apprenticeship schemes 

and this and that, but it all depends on the contractors who are willing to take these people on 

Tudalen y pecyn 62



 
The Right to Adequate Housing – Local Government and Hosing Committee 

February 2023 | 6 

and if you get smaller outfits and they’re just too busy to be bothered with apprentices.” Care & 

Repair Technical Officer, North Wales  

To address the growing skills gap facing vital industries, Welsh Government should focus on 

reskilling and upskilling the existing workforce. Maintaining the workforce from an 

intergenerational perspective will mean that vital knowledge and experience is able to be 

passed on to the future workforce. This will enable current tradespeople to receive training and 

skill strengthening in new areas such as decarbonisation and retrofitting, and for their existing 

skills to aid in training new apprentices in their field. This should be alongside the promotion and 

incentivisation of the Welsh Government’s Young Person’s Guarantee that has currently 

enabled more than 11,000 young people into work. There needs to be further work in 

incentivising young people into the construction and trade labour industries to fill the gaps that 

will otherwise be left from an ageing workforce and increased number of retirements.  

Housing availability   

Earlier this year, Welsh Government introduced a National Empty Homes Grant scheme, with 

the aim of bringing over 2,000 long-term empty properties back into use to house the Welsh 

community. The £50 million scheme announced by the Minister for Climate Change in January 

2023 will provide financial support to current or prospective owners of empty properties to 

remove significant hazards from their properties to make them safe to live in and to improve 

energy efficiency. We believe that this will begin to create affordable housing at an acceptable 

quality for a wider proportion of the population. However, these grants do not apply to those 

homes that are currently being lived in, no matter how poor the quality of that home is. This 

means there could be situations where - when comparing two homes in the same state of 

disrepair but one is occupied and one is empty - the one with no occupants is eligible for the 

grant, but the one with occupants is not. This is not providing adequate and equitable support 

for those that already own and live in their own home. Care & Repair is calling for the 

introduction of a safety net housing repair grant, targeted at the lowest income older people 

living in the poorest-quality homes. This would have similar requirements as the Empty Homes 

Grant Scheme, only our proposed grant would be accessible for those that currently live in their 

own home, to address housing disrepair, and preventing further deterioration.  

Retrofitting and repairing existing housing stock  

For this Bill to be successful, there must be enough funds to retrofit and tackle disrepair in 

homes that currently would be deemed ‘inadequate’. Care & Repair staff have the unique 

privilege of being in the homes of older people every day, undertaking approximately 15,000 

home visits and Healthy Homes Assessments every year. Our casework and surveying staff 

witness first-hand the extreme levels of disrepair that so many older people are living in right 

now. If homes are deemed uninhabitable and inadequate by the new Bill, Care & Repair would 

Tudalen y pecyn 63



 
The Right to Adequate Housing – Local Government and Hosing Committee 

February 2023 | 7 

need assurances that there are sufficient funds available to bring these homes up to standard 

whilst allowing the occupier to remain in their own home. Care & Repair would be willing 

partners of Welsh Government to work to ensure this is done, targeting people on low incomes 

who genuinely cannot afford to do anything themselves.  

If retrofitting and repairing the existing stock is to become a part of the introduction of this Bill, 

capital and revenue funds would be needed to cover the inevitable increase in activities of 

organisations such as Care & Repair and capital works to retrofit homes to the required 

standard. Tai Pawb’s ‘The Right to Adequate Housing’ feasibility report explicitly mentions 

accessibility:  

‘Adequate housing must be accessible to those entitled to it. Disadvantaged groups must be 

accorded full and sustainable access to adequate housing resources and should be ensured 

priority consideration in the housing sphere. Both housing law and policy should take fully into 

account the special housing needs of these groups.’  

There must also be assurances that any retrofitting and repair work to bring homes up to an 

‘adequate’ standard is not merely minimal, low-impact measures that will need constant, costly 

maintenance to keep homes ‘adequate’. Any changes and repairs needed to homes should 

have a view of longevity and be taken on a whole-house approach. Otherwise, it may become 

more costly to maintain small, inefficient measures than to increase spending but undertake 

more robust and significant adaptations and maintenance, encapsulated by the Vimes ‘Boots’ 

theory9 which discusses the ‘poverty premium’ of paying for inexpensive but low-quality items 

multiple times, versus more expensive but longer-lasting products only once.  

3. Consider the impact a right to adequate housing would make across Welsh 

housing policy  

For Care & Repair, this would be the first step in realising equity between tenure types in terms 

of rights and legislation. Currently the housing policy landscape is unbalanced between the 

rights and protections between tenure types, resulting in inequity between people who hold 

different tenancies. This right would protect low-income older owner-occupiers, who are at 

disproportionate risk of home deterioration or injury due to disrepair. However, currently we do 

not have a clear picture of the state of housing across Wales between tenure types, due to the 

ceasing of comprehensive Welsh Housing Conditions Surveys. This means that, by introducing 

this right, there would be a necessity to reintroduce a similar analysis on the current housing 

stock quality, to understand the trajectory to ensuring adequate housing for all.  

By establishing this right into law, it will also further exemplify the widely known links between 

housing and health. By ensuring that people in Wales have a right to adequate housing, they 

would also experience a range of benefits to health including a reduced number of falls risks, 

enabling homes that are energy efficient enough to be kept to a safe temperature so as to not 

Tudalen y pecyn 64



The Right to Adequate Housing – Local Government and Hosing Committee 

February 2023 | 8 

contract or exacerbate existing respiratory or cardiovascular illnesses, or simply removing 

hazards such as rising damp and mould growth. Swansea University’s Medical School Data 

Science unit worked with us to undertake a 9-year longitudinal study on the impact of home 

adaptations in relation to Care & Repair’s impact on falls prevention and hospital admissions. 

This research found that:  

• There was a 13% reduction in risk of someone having a fall one year following a Care &

Repair intervention, compared to citizens that had not had an intervention (therefore

reducing hospitalisation and unscheduled care admissions)

• Post intervention, the Care & Repair client cohort didn’t see fall risk increase annually as

it did for the group that had not received a Care & Repair intervention.

These findings show that providing adequate housing and addressing the specific needs of its 

occupiers reduces the need for medical intervention, hospitalisation or at-home care. Therefore, 

we believe that providing adequate housing is a research and evidence supported, preventative 

strategy to addressing the health crisis. More needs to be done to ensure that housing keeps 

people out of hospital where possible - whatever this may look like.  

Enacting this right into law will also aid in providing similarity between Welsh housing policy and 

international legislation. Housing is devolved in Wales, so Welsh Government has the power to 

fulfil this opportunity and embrace housing equality for all. There is an opportunity for Wales to 

lead the way in aligning Welsh housing policy and the UN, and fulfil duties promised in the 

Strategy for an Ageing Society.  

By enshrining this right in Welsh law, it would work to supplement other areas of Welsh policy 

and legislation that currently exists. It would work in conjunction with Wellbeing of Future 

Generations Act, Strategy for Older People in Wales 2013-2023, and Age Friendly Wales 

among others.   

These Acts and Strategies are cross-topical, and already encapsulate a range of themes and 

areas that affect the lives of people in Wales: NHS waiting times, benefit take up and income 

maximisation, fuel poverty and affordability, access to housing, transport options and more. 

With many of these areas intersecting with a right to adequate housing, implementing this right 

would allow for many of these to be linked further. This would create cohesion and 

consideration for housing to be a key part of creating a society that thrives for all in Wales, and 

decisions made to consider housing when proposing or implementing new legislation.  

Tudalen y pecyn 65

mailto:becky.ricketts@careandrepair.org.uk


The Right to Adequate Housing – Local Government and Hosing Committee 

February 2023 | 9 Tudalen y pecyn 66



The Right to Adequate Housing - CHC Sector Response

About Us

Community Housing Cymru (CHC) is the voice of housing associations in Wales. We represent and
support 36 housing associations and community mutuals. Our members provide almost 165,000 homes
to 10% of the Welsh population.

Our Response

1. Examine how incorporating the right to adequate housing into Welsh Law would work in
practise

CHC believes wholly in the right to adequate housing. We have a vision that Wales is a place where
good housing is a basic right for all. However we know that making this vision a reality requires the
resources and tools to deliver it.

We are unclear how a proposed right to adequate housing in itself would expedite progress, and
consider that any work on this right needs to be grounded in an understanding of the resources and
tools that would facilitate this. We recommend that this work is done as a priority to inform any
consideration of legislative change.

When determining the need for legislative change, we should first consider the nature of the challenge
facing us and consider which tools are most appropriate to drive the desired outcomes. This should
include interrogation of potential unintended consequences of legislative proposals.

2. Identify any challenges and barriers to taking this policy forward

Below we outline the challenges and barriers to implementing this policy as reported by our members.
Where possible, we also identify potential routes to overcome these barriers.

We consider that efforts to overcome existing barriers to accessing adequate housing, including
providing affordable homes at the pace and scale required, preventing and responding to
homelessness, and decarbonising our housing stock must be prioritised.

● Development and supply chain issues

The Welsh Government has a substantial programme of work with partners to tackle the drivers of the
housing crisis in Wales. However despite record investment in social homes in recent years, demand
for affordable homes continues to far outstrip supply with estimates showing that between 2019 and
2024 Wales needs an additional 3,500 affordable homes per year.1

1 Estimates of Housing Need 2019 based, Welsh government

www.chcymru.org.uk 1 / 4

Papur 5/Paper 5

Tudalen y pecyn 67

https://www.gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-08/estimates-of-additional-housing-need-in-wales-2019-based_0.pdf
http://www.chcymru.org.uk


Housing associations and partner organisations are experiencing substantial barriers to developing
new homes. In order to deliver the high quality, safe, warm build the homes the people and
communities of Wales need, we must work to remedy the major challenges affecting the housing and
planning sector.

We need a planning system which has enabling environmentally responsible developments at its heart.
In order to achieve this we need a bespoke troubleshooting service which has the resources and
powers to step in and find solutions to problems that are habitually causing costly, unnecessary delays
to development. This service must have the power to bring stakeholders together and negotiate
pragmatic approaches to moving development forward. We need a swift but realistic plan with
achievable milestones for reviews of the planning system, in particular in relation to sustainable
drainage systems (SUDs) and TAN15. We need a holistic Welsh strategy and aligned decision making
across Welsh government departments to avoid policy making in one area that creates problems in
another. We must also prioritise getting the right people in the right places at the right time for the
system to work - for example, providing funding to local authorities to create posts that have strategic
oversight for the delivery of affordable housing developments and exploring regional pooling of
planning and development staff with relevant specialisms.

● Homelessness pressures and lack of revenue funding

There are significant pressures on homelessness and housing support services. There are currently
over 8,500 people in temporary accommodation with this figure rising approximately 500 people every
month2. Many of these people will require support to help them move on to settled accommodation.
Against this picture of rising demand, Housing Support Grant (HSG) funding has been maintained at
2022/23 levels and has not risen in line with inflation, leaving services in an increasingly precarious
position.

Our  ‘Housing Matters’ campaign, delivered in partnership with Cymorth Cymru, highlights that once
inflation has been accounted for HSG is worth £18m less today than supported people funding
allocations were in 2011/12. This decrease in funding is coupled with a rapid increase in running costs
as accommodation-based services are particularly vulnerable to volatile energy bills.

Services are finding it incredibly difficult to recruit and retain staff - a major factor is the lack
of funding to pay for decent wages, training and support for staff who are doing extremely
skilled, complex and traumatic jobs. Some are currently paid below the Real Living Wage, yet no
additional funding is being made available to services.

Housing associations are committed to playing their part in ending homelessness and ensuring
Everyone in Wales has access to suitable housing but significant revenue funding is needed, alongside
work to increase the supply of affordable homes, in order to ensure people can access the right support
and the right property.

● Decarbonisation

Making swift progress on reducing the carbon emissions of our homes is a hugely important step in
tackling climate change and addressing the cost of living crisis by saving people money on bills. We

2 Housing Matters Campaign 2022, Cymorth Cymru and Community Housing Cymru

www.chcymru.org.uk 2 / 4Tudalen y pecyn 68

https://www.cymorthcymru.org.uk/en/policy/campaigns/housing-matters
http://www.chcymru.org.uk


know that housing emissions make up 10% of total emissions in Wales. Developing and retrofitting
homes that use renewable energy, are well insulated, and are efficient will ensure occupiers can save
money on energy bills and lower maintenance costs. This is particularly important during  the cost of
living crisis as it means vulnerable people will have increased protection from fluctuations in energy
prices.

However at present, we have no clear long-term route map to decarbonising our housing stock.
Modelling sourced by CHC demonstrates that achieving EPC A by 2033 for housing associations in
Wales alone will cost at least £2.05bn and this estimate is likely to be a conservative figure.Barriers to
progressing the decarbonisation agenda include; a lack of necessary infrastructure required to deliver
retrofit ambitions at pace, absence of a skilled workforce who can provide specialist trades and
services and an increasingly more volatile climate that is vulnerable to extreme weather events such as
flooding.

The following conditions must be in place in order to make expedited progress on decarbonisation: an
ambitious but achievable target date, a long term funding programme, a complementary skills strategy
and space and time to learn and implement effective tenant engagement strategies.

We must acknowledge the cumulative pressures being experienced by housing associations across all
areas of service delivery and how this may impact upon the right of adequate housing to be realised.
As outlined in our introduction, we must think carefully about whether legislative measures are the right
tool to address the barriers outlined above and rather, other levers like increased funding or fostering
new cultures are more appropriate to avoid unintended consequences.

3. Consider the impact a right to adequate housing would make across Wales

Everyone in Wales deserves somewhere safe, comfortable and secure to live. Somewhere that is
adaptable to our changing needs, connected to where we work, or where we are educated and
somewhere where public services are accessible.The pandemic highlighted how important it was to
have somewhere safe to call home. The benefits of a good home for everyone are multiple.

● A healthier, happier population

We know that investment in good quality homes means that people can be healthier and can live
independently in their own homes for longer. This is better for individuals and families and also saves
public money by relieving pressures on the NHS and other public services.

We understand the UK’s ageing population is likely to place strain on the NHS and the public purse
over the next few decades with a predicted rise of 63% in the number of people over 65 admitted to
hospital for a fall3. On top of this, a Housing LIN study estimates that for each person living in housing
with care settings, the NHS saves approximately £2,000 per year, per person. We can prevent hospital
admission by improving access to accessible and adapted housing. With proper, long-term, sufficient
investment in housing and support, we can greatly decrease the strain on the NHS and improve the
day to day lives of individuals living throughout Wales.

● A more prosperous Welsh economy

3 Population Projections Platform - Data Cymru and Usk Scientific Services on behalf of Social Care Wales, 2018

www.chcymru.org.uk 3 / 4Tudalen y pecyn 69

http://www.daffodilcymru.org.uk/index.php
http://www.chcymru.org.uk


Investment in housing greatly boosts the Welsh economy. At present, housing associations employ 
around 11,000 full time equivalent jobs and this rises to around 27,000 if indirect sources of 
employment are also considered.4 On top of this, housing associations spend 90p of every £1 earned 
locally in Wales and over the course of five years, starting in 2021, are predicted to provide a £6bn 
economic boost to communities up and down Wales.5

For further information please contact:

Bethany Howells

Policy and External Affairs Officer

Community Housing Cymru

5 Home Manifesto, Community Housing Cymru, 2021
4 Global Accounts, the financial statement of Welsh housing associations 2021, Community Housing Cymru

www.chcymru.org.uk 4 / 4Tudalen y pecyn 70

https://hereforhomes.org.uk/uploads/resources/Home-Manifesto-ENG.pdf
https://chcymru.org.uk/cms-assets/documents/global-accounts-2021-22-ENG-FINAL-v2.pdf
http://www.chcymru.org.uk


Papur 6/Paper 6 
 

 

WLGA evidence to Local Government and Housing Committee 

– Right to Adequate Housing 

 

Welsh Local Government Association - The Voice of Welsh Councils 

The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) is a politically led cross 

party organisation that seeks to give local government a strong voice at a 

national level. The Association represents the interests of local government 

and promotes local democracy in Wales. The 22 councils in Wales are all 

members of the WLGA and the 3 fire and rescue authorities and 3 national 

park authorities are associate members. 

We believe that the ideas that change people’s lives, happen locally 

Communities are at their best when they feel connected to their councils 

through local democracy. By championing, facilitating, and achieving these 

connections, we can build a vibrant local democracy that allows sustainable 

communities to thrive.  

The main aim of the Association is to promote, protect, support and develop 

democratic local government and the interests of councils in Wales. 

This means: 

• Promoting the role and prominence of councillors and council leaders 

• Ensuring maximum local discretion in legislation or statutory guidance 

• Championing and securing long-term and sustainable funding for 

councils 

• Promoting sector-led improvement 

• Encouraging a vibrant local democracy, promoting greater diversity 

• Supporting councils to effectively manage their workforce. 

 

Senedd Cymru’s Local Government and Housing Committee is undertaking 

an inquiry into the right to adequate housing. This is the WLGA’s submission to 

that inquiry. 

The terms of reference for the inquiry, which the Committee has invited 

contributors to share views on, are to: 

1. Examine how incorporating the right to adequate housing into Welsh 
law would work in practice; 

 
The WLGA would support the general principle of the appropriate 
incorporation of human rights into Welsh law. Therefore, in the case of the 
right to adequate housing it is, as suggested, most useful to focus the 

Tudalen y pecyn 71



 

 

Committee’s inquiry on the practical implications of incorporating the right into 
Welsh law. 

 
The United Nations Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights 
(CESCR) has set out seven conditions that must be attained for the full 
realisation of the right to adequate housing. These are security of tenure, 
habitability, availability of services, affordability, accessibility, cultural 
adequacy and location. 
 
This provides a useful framework against which to assess the current position 
of the citizens of Wales in relation to the availability to them of adequate 
housing, to plan for detailed implementation to meet any identified gaps, and 
to measure future progress and achievement.  
 
We would support the general concept of progressive realisation, through 
which the right to housing may be fulfilled progressively, over time, and 
meaning that the government is required to make progress towards the fullest 
possible realisation of the right through the application of maximum available 
resources. In this context, due consideration would need to be given to 
identify the key resources and levers for change which lie within the 
competence of both Welsh and UK Governments (e.g. welfare policy and 
support). Ensuring that sufficient resources and capacity were available to all 
stakeholders, particularly local authorities and their partners, to support 
implementation and realisation would be critical to delivering success. 

 
2. Identify any challenges and barriers to taking this policy forward; 

 

As part of the WLGA’s “A Manifesto for Localism” covering the Senedd period 

2021-26, in order “to create good quality homes and safer communities for 

people to live and work”, the WLGA identified that the Welsh Government 

should:  

 

 Support the work of local authorities in tackling and preventing homelessness 

and rough sleeping and ensuring that those brought into temporary 

accommodation during the pandemic are supported into permanent housing 

while transforming current and future temporary accommodation provision 

and homelessness services;  

 Support delivery of increased plans for building council houses across Wales; 

A cross Government approach to new-build, improvement and retro-fit 

housing projects can provide simultaneous action on: meeting housing need 

and tackling homelessness; energy efficiency, fuel poverty and climate 

change; inclusive local economic growth; and improving health, well-being 

and general social cohesion;  

 Support work focused on the decarbonisation of existing homes, including 

identifying resource implications; and 

 Continue to contribute to on-going work to improve building safety following 

the findings of the Hackitt Review. 

Tudalen y pecyn 72



 

 

These issues, and the associated “asks” of Welsh Government provide a 

useful summary of the current key housing-related challenges facing Councils 

and their partners in Wales, and also indicate a number of the barriers to be 

overcome. Further information on some of these significant challenges faced 

by Councils in delivering their housing services is outlined below : - 

Homelessness 

Driven initially by the pandemic and changes to the statutory guidance from 

Welsh Government, there has been a significant change in approach to the 

provision of emergency temporary accommodation for homeless households. 

Increasing numbers of people are being accommodated in emergency 

temporary accommodation provided by Councils (9,247 individuals as at end 

of December 2022). Since the start of the pandemic over 31,200 people who 

were previously homeless have been supported through emergency 

temporary accommodation. The numbers of people presenting as homeless 

to Councils continue to be very high, and the challenges of providing and 

maintaining appropriate levels of suitable temporary accommodation, along 

with difficulties in securing long term homes for people to move into, means 

that the numbers of people in emergency accommodation continue to 

increase with a consistent upward trend which shows no sign of reducing.  

As well as increased household costs for everyone, including rising energy 

costs, there have been significant increases in rents in most areas, with an 

increasing gap over Local Housing Allowance support means that the Private 

Rented Sector is increasingly difficult for many households to access and 

afford. A sustained period of rising consumer costs and increased interest 

rates, without any increase in household incomes, is also very likely to impact 

on owner-occupiers who will find their mortgage payments more difficult to 

meet. All leading to increased demand for homelessness services and the use 

of temporary accommodation.  

The Housing Support Grant (HSG) is the Welsh Government’s principal 

funding stream for preventing homelessness, supporting more than 60,000 

people each year to live independently in their communities. Through the 

provision of refuge, supported accommodation and tenancy support services, 

the HSG allows people to exit homelessness, leave abusive relationships, 

maintain their tenancies, overcome mental health and substance abuse 

issues, build on their strengths and fulfil their aspirations. The current annual 

HSG funding of £166m is under considerable pressure to meet the increased 

demand related to these homelessness pressures outlined above, and the 

need to ensure that services commissioned by Councils receive enough 

funding to pay their staff a fair wage and provide them with the support they 

need.  

Housing Supply 

Part of the response to dealing with increased homelessness, and to meet 

housing need more generally, is the building of more social rented homes. 

Tudalen y pecyn 73



 

 

Councils and Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) are making significant 

efforts to meet the Programme for Government target of 20,000 new low 

carbon homes for social rent. 

Councils with housing stock are playing an increasingly important role directly 

developing a growing number of these much-needed new homes, and all 

Councils continue to work with their RSL partners to ensure that new homes 

meet strategic housing needs. 

The Welsh Government budget contains a significant increase in the funding 

to support the development new social rented homes by Councils and RSLs, 

with more than £1Bn in total across the current and next 2 financial years 

covered by the budget. 

However, even with record levels of investment support and borrowing by 

Councils and RSLs, there are many growing challenges to developing enough 

new homes including the availability of land, phosphate restrictions, rising 

costs of materials, constraints on the supply of materials, shortages in 

necessary key skills, capacity within some Council functions, capacity within 

utility companies, etc.  

Decarbonisation of Council housing stock 

It is estimated that the current housing stock in Wales is responsible for 27 per 

cent of all energy consumed in Wales and 15 per cent of all our demand side 

greenhouse gas emissions. The initial focus on achieving effective 

decarbonisation in existing Welsh homes will be via improvements to the 

social rented housing stock (including c. 87,000 Council homes). 

As well as utilising existing funding support to further improve the condition of 

the current stock of social housing, the Welsh Government’s current budget 

confirms an increase in funding for the Optimised Retrofit Programme for the 

current financial year and each of the next 2 years to support the continued 

development of an evidence base around effective measures to deliver 

improvements in decarbonisation. 

Further work is required to clarify the total funding required to retrofit existing 

homes, and to identify sources for this funding. The funding currently 

identified will not allow Council’s to deliver on both the twin objectives of 

delivering significantly increased numbers of new low carbon homes for social 

rent and retrofitting the existing stock of Council homes. 

Properly developed and implemented, the right to adequate housing could 

have an important role in enabling and underpinning a joined up approach 

regarding a focus on apprenticeships and vocational skills to help bridge the 

current and forecast future gaps in the construction sector to support our 

ambitious retrofit and new build programmes. 

Housing Quality & Standards 

Tudalen y pecyn 74



 

 

The pre-conditions of habitability and accessibility, as set out by CESCR, 

pose particular challenges when addressing the condition of Wales’ existing 

housing stock. For the social rented stock, Welsh Government are able to set 

standards and drive improvement via WHQS – the latest version of which has 

been consulted upon. However, influencing and supporting improvement in 

housing quality and standards in the private rented and owner occupied 

sectors (including issues such as adaptations) will be much more challenging 

 
3. Consider the impact a right to adequate housing would make across 

Welsh housing policy. 
 
As previously set out in the housing pact jointly agreed by Welsh Government, 
WLGA and Community Housing Cymru during the previous Senedd period, 
the housing sector in Wales has been one of the most successful partnerships 
of public, private and third sectors across the UK in recent years. The partners 
jointly undertook to continue to deliver on the objectives they share – by 
creating and investing in communities meeting people’s housing needs, 
making a positive difference to their lives and helping to give children the best 
possible start in life. Increasing the supply of rural and urban affordable 
housing is a vital part of this, as is meeting and maintaining Welsh Housing 
Quality Standards. To achieve our mutual goals, the Welsh Government, 
housing associations and local authorities must continue to work in 
partnership and ensure we encourage an environment in which we can thrive 
and deliver. 
 
By further underpinning this kind of shared ambition across public, third and 
private sector bodies, a right to adequate housing which is fully resourced, 
jointly developed, mutually agreed and understood by all stakeholders, and 
progressively realised, has the potential to improve the lives of the current and 
future citizens of Wales who may not otherwise enjoy the benefits of adequate 
and appropriate housing. 
 
 
 
Jim McKirdle 
Housing Policy Officer, WLGA 
Jim.Mckirdle@wlga.gov.uk  

 
 

 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 75

mailto:Jim.Mckirdle@wlga.gov.uk


1 
 

Papur 7/Paper 7 

 

Local Government and Housing Committee 

The Right to Adequate Housing 

Submission: Professor Simon Hoffman, Swansea University 

My work focusses on incorporation of international human rights through 
devolved law-making and policy. I contributed expertise to the civil society 
campaign to incorporate the UN Convention of the Rights of the Child (UNCRC) 
in Welsh law via the Rights of Children and Young Persons (Wales) Measure 
2011 (Child Rights Measure). More recently I acted in an advisory capacity to 
organisations working on UNCRC incorporation in Scotland and in Jersey. In 
2020-21, I was Principal Investigator and co-author of a report for the Welsh 
Government on options to strengthen and advance equality and human rights in 
Wales. I am a member of a Legislative Options Working Group convened to 
make recommendations on further incorporation of human rights in Wales. In 
2019, I authored a Feasibility Report on incorporation of the Right to Adequate 
Housing (RAH) under article 11 of International Covenant on Economic Social 
and Cultural Rights (ICESCR) in Welsh law. As part of the ‘Back the Bill’ 
campaign, I prepared the draft Bill which is the focus of the campaign.  

Initial Points 

When discussing incorporation of any international human right into domestic law 
in Wales it should be recalled:  

1. The UK has voluntarily signed and ratified human rights treaties, including 
ICESCR, under which it is obliged to introduce legislative and other measures 
to implement the rights guaranteed.1 This applies to the state at all levels, 
including devolved government.  
 

2. The Committee on Economic Social and Cultural Right (CommESC), as well, 
human rights experts and civil society organisations have confirmed that a key 
step toward effective implementation of ICESCR is incorporation into 
domestic law.2  
 

3. The Senedd has competence to incorporate the RAH in Welsh law. Particular 
reference may be made to the Government of Wales Act 2006, Schedule 7A, 
which lists reserved matters. Paragraph 10 refers to ‘Foreign Affairs etc’ as 
reserved; however, paragraph 10(3) expressly excludes ’observing and 
implementing international obligations’ from this reservation. These 
obligations include human rights.  
 

                                                           
1 Article 2(1) ICESCR. 
2 Committee on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, General Comment no.9, 1998, The Domestic 

Application of the Covenant, Part B.  Aoife Daly, Joshua Curtis, and Yvonne McDermott Rees, 2018, 

Enhancing the Status of UN Treaty Rights in Domestic Settings, EHRC. See also, JustFair 

submission to current inquiry and references therein.  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 76

Eitem 9

https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/15/treatybodyexternal/TBSearch.aspx?Lang=en&TreatyID=9&DocTypeID=11
https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/15/treatybodyexternal/TBSearch.aspx?Lang=en&TreatyID=9&DocTypeID=11
https://www.liverpool.ac.uk/media/livacuk/law/2-research/ilhru/EHRC,Enhancing,the,Status,of,UN,Treaty,Rights.pdf


2 
 

4. There is no single model of incorporation of international human rights into 
domestic law. Different approaches are often summarised as: 

 Direct incorporation – rights are made part of domestic law in a way 
which makes them enforceable by a court or tribunal (e.g. the Human 
Rights Act 1998 (HRA 1998) which incorporates the European Convention 
on Human Rights). 

 Indirect incorporation - rights are made part of domestic law in a way 
which means decision-makers have to take specified rights into account 
when exercising their functions. The formulation used in Welsh law is ‘due 
regard’ (e.g. the Child Rights Measure requiring Welsh Ministers to have 
due regard to the UNCRC when exercising their functions). Rights are not 
directly enforceable but decision-makers are subject to judicial review if 
they fail to have due regard. 

 Sectoral or piecemeal incorporation - rights are given some legal effect 
in specific fields of public policy, e.g. education, or housing. Sectoral 
incorporation may be direct or indirect (e.g. section 7 of the Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, requires persons exercising 
functions under the Act to have due regard to the UNCRC and the UN 
Principles for Older Persons).  
 

5. Research suggests that direct incorporation leads to stronger recognition of 
human rights than other forms of incorporation.3 Wales-based research 
confirms a strong desire amongst stakeholders in Wales to move beyond 
indirect incorporation, to direct incorporation of human rights.4 This research 
also confirms a desire to see human rights obligations imposed not only on 
Welsh Ministers, but on relevant public authorities whose decisions and 
actions impact on individuals and communities.  

How would incorporating the right to adequate housing into Welsh law 
work in practice? 

I will focus on the approach that might be taken to incorporation of the RAH.  

6. Welsh Ministers and the Senedd can determine how incorporation of the RAH 
may be achieved through devolved legislation. Legislation could make 
provision for Ministers to issue guidance for housing authorities in Wales on 
implementation of the RAH. There are therefore numerous mechanisms by 
which Ministers and the Senedd can shape how an incorporated RAH would 
work in practice. 
 

7. There is no ‘one size fits all’ approach to incorporation. JustFair and the Back 
the Bill partners have given examples of incorporation of the RAH 
internationally.5 I respectfully adopt the evidence submitted by those 
organisations.  

                                                           
3 See above Daly et al. See also: Laura Lundy, Ursula Kilkelly, Bronagh Byrne and Jason Kang, 2012, 
The UN Convention on the Rights of the Child: A Study of Legal Implementation in 12 Countries, 
UNICEF-UK. 
4 Simon Hoffman and Sean O’Neill, 2018, The Impact of Legal Integration of the UNCRC in Wales, , 
EHRC; Simon Hoffman, Sarah Nason, Elli Hicks and Rhian Chamberlain, 2021, Strengthening and 
Advancing Equality and Human Rights in Wales, Welsh Government.    
5 Evidence submitted to the current inquiry.  

Tudalen y pecyn 77

https://www.unicef.org.uk/publications/child-rights-convention-2012-report/
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/the_impact_of_legal_integration_of_the_un_convention_on_the_rights_of_the_child_in_wales_eng.pdf
https://www.gov.wales/strengthening-and-advancing-equality-and-human-rights-wales#:~:text=Strengthening%20and%20advancing%20equality%20and%20human%20rights%20in,26%20August%202021%20Last%20updated%3A%2026%20August%202021
https://www.gov.wales/strengthening-and-advancing-equality-and-human-rights-wales#:~:text=Strengthening%20and%20advancing%20equality%20and%20human%20rights%20in,26%20August%202021%20Last%20updated%3A%2026%20August%202021


3 
 

 

8. The approach to incorporation in practice in Wales needs to be one that works 
for Wales, taking account of the particular governance and jurisdictional 
context. 

 
9. Research confirms a desire amongst civil society stakeholders to prioritise 

direct incorporation of human rights in Welsh law, primarily because indirect 
incorporation results in an accountability deficit.6 Under the due regard model 
duty-bearers are not fully accountable if they breach an individual’s human 
rights. Direct incorporation of the RAH would provide strong accountability as 
there would be scope to appeal to a court or tribunal for a remedy where a 
relevant public authority (in which I include Welsh Ministers) breaches an 
individual’s RAH. It is for this reason that I support direct incorporation of the 
RAH.  
 

10. Significantly, research also confirms positive impacts of the due regard 
approach. In particular: to ensure attention to human rights during policy 
development, to promote transparency, to underpin a policy culture which 
recognises human rights ,and to provide for some enhanced political and 
administrative accountability.7 It is for this reason that I support an approach 
to incorporation of the RAH which maintains the benefits of due regard.  
 

11. I favour a model of incorporation which in practice takes the best elements of 
due regard and allies this to an approach which makes the RAH enforceable 
to ensure strong accountability. So, for example: 

 Policy decision-makers could be required to take the RAH into account at 
all stages when devising policy and legislation and to demonstrate this 
through a Housing Impact Assessment and Housing Rights Scheme.  

 Policy decision-makers could be required to adopt a participative approach 
to establish housing priorities and local housing strategies.  

 Welsh Ministers could be required to report periodically to the Senedd on 
progress toward realising the RAH, triggering scrutiny by committee.  

 Relevant authorities could be required to act in compliance with the RAH. 

 Intended beneficiaries could be authorised to bring a claim that a relevant 
authority has breached their RAH.  

Identify any challenges and barriers to taking this policy forward. 

12. Challenges and barriers may arise if future duty-bearers are concerned about 
the implications on strategic planning, resources and delivery. These 
concerns are best addressed by raising awareness and understanding about 
the likely impact of the RAH, as well as how the RAH might be enforced. 
JustFair and the Back the Bill partners have sought to address impact in their 
submissions to this inquiry. I respectfully adopt that evidence. 
 

13.  I will address another potential challenge which will likely concern the 
Committee, Welsh Ministers, and the Senedd if Wales chooses to enact a 

                                                           
6 Note 4. 
7 Note 4. 

Tudalen y pecyn 78



4 
 

RAH. This is the possibility that the UK Government will object to the Senedd 
taking this step.  

14. Unlike in Wales, successive UK governments and UK Parliaments have not 
sought to embed human rights through domestic legislation (with the 
exception of the HRA 1998). There are concerns in Wales (as well as in 
Scotland and Northern Ireland), about possible reform of the HRA 1998 and 
its impact on devolution.  While these concerns merit ongoing discussion, I 
will not seek to do this in my submission. Instead, I note that incorporation of 
the RAH in Welsh Law would further highlight the possibility of divergent 
approaches to human rights which is a feature of devolution.  
 

15. I urge the Committee, as well as Welsh Ministers and the Senedd to be wary 
of allowing the possibility of divergence on human rights to create a ‘chilling 
effect’ on developments in Wales. While the UK Government has raised the 
possibility for reform of the HRA 1998, it has not sought to interfere with 
progress so far on incorporation of human rights in Wales. Nor has it 
threatened to undermine efforts by Welsh Ministers toward further 
incorporation. Nor has it suggested that Wales has gone too far to provide 
legal recognition of human rights. Indeed, when the UK Government reports 
to international Treaty Bodies on progress on meeting its human rights 
obligations in the UK, it often draws on developments in Wales to evidence 
progress.8  
 

16. The Committee may be familiar with the recent decision in the UK Supreme 
Court on the Bill to incorporate the UNCRC into Scots law.9 The validity of the 
Bill was challenged by the UK Government; a challenge which was upheld by 
the UK Supreme Court. This might suggest a willingness on the part of the UK 
Government to question the conduct of devolved legislation on matters of 
human rights governance. However, in Wales we should be wary of reaching 
this conclusion or giving undue weight to the UK Supreme Court decision.  
 

17. This is not the place for a detailed legal analysis. However, it is worth noting 
that the UK Supreme Court was not asked to rule that incorporation of the 
UNCRC was outside the scope of devolved competence in Scotland, but 
instead to focus on provisions in a Bill which sought to give legal effect to a 
‘maximalist’ approach to incorporation, so as to apply a duty to comply with 
the UNCRC to as many authorities and public functions as possible. Although 
this is a laudable objective for any legislation to incorporate human rights, in 
this case it resulted in UK Government objecting to certain provisions in the 
Bill having consequential impacts for any Court which might be asked to 
interpret and apply legislation enacted by the UK Parliament having effect in 
relation to Scotland; and, a provision requiring (in terms) the Courts to 
determine on a case-by-case basis whether a public authority is exercising 
devolved or non-devolved functions. The Supreme Court held that in these 
respects, the Bill went beyond the devolved competence of the Scottish 

                                                           
8 See, for example, the numerous references to Welsh legislation in the 2022 UK State Party Report 
CommESCR. and children’s rights developments in Wales in its 2022 UK State Party Report 
CommCRC.  
9 Reference by the Attorney General and the Advocate General for Scotland - United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child (Incorporation) (Scotland) Bill, [2021] UKSC 42. 

Tudalen y pecyn 79

https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/15/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=E%2FC.12%2FGBR%2F7&Lang=en
https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/15/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=E%2FC.12%2FGBR%2F7&Lang=en
https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/15/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CRC%2FC%2FGBR%2F6-7&Lang=en
https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/15/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=CRC%2FC%2FGBR%2F6-7&Lang=en
https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/uksc-2021-0079.html
https://www.supremecourt.uk/cases/uksc-2021-0079.html


5 
 

Parliament. It is reasonable to infer that had the Bill been drafted so as to 
avoid these issues, the Supreme Court would not have seen cause to 
interfere and further, the UK Government would probably not have objected to 
the Bill.  
 

18. While Welsh Ministers and the Senedd will need to be highly sensitive to the 
need to remain within the framework of devolved competence if the decision 
is taken to incorporate the RAH through legislation, the Scottish experience 
neither negates the competence of the Senedd to enact legislation to achieve 
this, nor does it prevent a ‘maximalist’ approach which results in an 
enforceable RAH: provided that the RAH is only enforceable against 
authorities exercising devolved functions (e.g. when exercising housing 
functions introduced by legislation already enacted by the National Assembly 
for Wales or the Senedd, such as the Housing (Wales) Act 2014).  

What impact would a right to adequate housing make across Welsh 
housing policy? 

19. Research based evidence submitted by the Back the Bill partners highlights 
how the RAH in Wales would generate significant financial benefits over the 
long-term. Submissions to the current inquiry by JustFair and the Back the Bill 
partner also suggest that a RAH would underpin investment in social housing; 
provide better recognition of the rights of tenants to a secure home; ensure 
closer attention to the specific housing needs of minority and disadvantaged 
groups; and, deliver greater prioritisation of housing priorities such as the 
supply of affordable, appropriate and sustainable homes in local housing 
strategies. I respectfully endorse and adopt these submissions.  
 

20. In my submission I wish to focus on the impact of incorporation of the RAH on 
strategic planning, and key implications for relevant authorities, as well as on 
enforcement.  
 

21. The RAH is often misunderstood as a narrow right to immediate provision of a 
home. This is a fundamental misconception and one which leads to resistance 
to adopting a human rights approach to housing policy. The proper approach 
to implementation of the RAH is explained by the CommESCR, in guidance 
on general obligations with respect to socioeconomic rights, i.e. in General 
Comment No.3, 199010; and specifically with respect to the RAH in General 
Comment No.4, 199111. 
 

22. The CommESCR gives detailed guidance on the RAH in General Comment 
No.4. This guidance would provide an excellent framework for Welsh 
Government guidance to housing authorities in Wales on implementing the 
RAH. While the guidance is too detailed to properly summarise in this 
submission, key points are: 

                                                           
10 CommESCR, 1990, General Comment No.3, The Nature of States Parties’ Obligations. 
11 CommESCR, 1991, General Comment No.4, The Right to Adequate Housing. 

Tudalen y pecyn 80

https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/15/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=INT%2FCESCR%2FGEC%2F4758&Lang=en
https://tbinternet.ohchr.org/_layouts/15/treatybodyexternal/Download.aspx?symbolno=INT%2FCESCR%2FGEC%2F4759&Lang=en


6 
 

 The RAH should not be interpreted in a narrow sense which equates it 
merely with the right to shelter. Instead, the RAH should be seen as right 
to ‘live somewhere in security, peace and dignity.’12  

 The RAH should be available on a non-discriminatory basis.13 

 Housing policy should prioritise those in greatest housing need.14  

 Every effort should be made to avoid retrogression.15  

 The concept of adequacy is particularly significant as it points at different 
aspects of housing which may contribute to the RAH. The Committee lists 
these as including:  

o Legal security of tenure.  
o Availability of services, materials, facilities and infrastructure. 
o Affordability.  
o Habitability.  
o Accessibility.  
o Location.  
o Cultural adequacy.16  

 
23. Two general notions on implementation of RAH emerge from CommESCR 

guidance which ought to assist relevant authorities to understand how they 
might address implementation of the RAH, including the different aspects of 
the RAH identified by the CommESCR. The first is the obligation of 
progressive realisation, the second is the concept of a minimum core or 
minimum essential level of the RAH.  
 
On progressive realisation and the minimum core  

24. An obligation that applies to all rights under ICESCR is that of progressive 
realisation.17 This means relevant authorities will be required to take ‘concrete’ 
steps making effective use of their maximum available resources to 
progressively realise, in full, the RAH. This does not mean that authorities will 
need allocate all their resources to housing, but they will need to demonstrate 
and justify how they prioritise housing in their strategic planning and how they 
will progress ‘expeditiously’ toward realising the RAH, and how adequate 
resources are allocated to support their housing policies. Authorities will also 
need to demonstrate that they are making the most efficient use of all their 
resources so as to maximise the amount available to support the RAH. Where 
an authority argues that it has insufficient resources to prioritise certain 
aspects of the RAH (e.g. the provision of affordable housing), it will need to 
transparently and convincingly demonstrate that this is the case.  
 

25. An important function of progressive realisation is to focus policy-makers on 
the longer term impacts of policy decisions. Incorporating the RAH in Welsh 
Law would ‘hardwire’ a commitment to address housing need not only for the 
present Welsh Government, Senedd, and housing authorities, but for these 

                                                           
12 Note 11 paragraph 7. 
13 Note 11 e.g. paragraph 6. 
14 Note 11 e.g. paragraph 8(e). 
15 This point is made in relation to all rights set out in ICESCR, including the RAH, in General 
Comment No.3 (note 10) at paragraph 9.  
16 Note 11, these aspects of the RAH are fully discussed in paragraph 8.  
17 Article 2(1) ICESCR. Fully discussed in General Comment No.3, note 10. 

Tudalen y pecyn 81



7 
 

institutions in the future. Given that adequate housing for all may take several 
generations to achieve, it is vital that Wales embeds a policy-framework which 
extends the vision of decision-makers beyond the immediate policy horizon. 
This approach is also, of course, consistent with the policy ambition of the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, and provides a real 
opportunity to ensure housing policy makes a strong contribution to the 
sustainable development principle.  

On the minimum core 

26. While relevant authorities are permitted discretion as to the steps they take to 
implement the different aspects of the RAH, the CommESCR has emphasized 
that there is an expectation of a minimum core or minimum essential level of 
all rights set out in ICESCR, including the RAH.18 It is not readily apparent 
what this might be in relation to all facets of the RAH, but a clear example is 
avoiding homelessness and destitution.19 Arguably this is already an 
obligation imposed on Welsh Ministers and local authorities under Article 3 of 
the ECHR.20 A RAH in Welsh law would concentrate attention on how housing 
policies and resource allocation contribute to meeting the requirements of 
ensuring a minimum core of the RAH in Wales. 
 

27. A priority for relevant authorities if Wales were to incorporate a RAH would be 
to adopt a participative approach to establish what we, as a nation, and as 
local communities, anticipate as the minimum level of provision when it comes 
to housing, and what we expect to be the outcomes of progressive realisation 
of the RAH. This is the approach which is encouraged by the CommESCR.21    
 
On enforcement 

28. Socioeconomic rights, and the RAH, are not part of UK domestic law. In 
assessing the conduct of public authorities in pursuit of policies with 
socioeconomic implications, UK judges tend toward an approach which defers 
to priority setting and resource allocation by responsible authorities. This 
manifest in a reasonableness standard of review (which is also the approach 
now favoured in South Africa where the right to access adequate housing is 
part of the country’s constitution). 
 

29. It is highly likely that if a RAH were incorporate in Welsh Law any legal 
challenge claiming breach of the right would take place as a judicial review, 
where the reasonableness standard would be applied. The reasonableness 
standard achieves some balance between the rights of individuals and the 
need to permit relevant authorities some discretion in the way limited 
resources are allocated. However, UK Courts are traditionally shy of 
scrutinising socioeconomic policy decision-making by government and public 
authorities. In my view, if an incorporated RAH in Wales is to have real impact 

                                                           
18 Fully discussed in General Comment No.3, note 10. 
19 CommESCR General Comment No.4 is in part premised on the notion that the RAH seeks to 
address homelessness, see note 11, paragraphs 4 and 13. Failure to provide basic housing is 
identified as a violation of the minimum core of rights under ICESCR in the Maastricht Guidelines on 
Violations of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, at paragraph 9. 
20 The right not to suffer inhuman or degrading treatment.  
21 Note 11 paragraph 12. 

Tudalen y pecyn 82

https://www.hlrn.org/img/documents/Maastricht%20Guidelines.pdf
https://www.hlrn.org/img/documents/Maastricht%20Guidelines.pdf


8 
 

to promote progress on housing in Wales, the requirement of progressive 
realisation should be included on the face of legislation; and, legislation 
should authorise the Courts to refer to international interpretive texts (such as 
CommESCR general commentary) to assist judges to determine whether 
relevant authorities have complied with the RAH.  
 

30. It should be noted that the notion of a minimum core is not an express 
requirement in the ICESCR or under the RAH. The concept has been 
developed primarily through interpretation by the CommESCR22 Application of 
a minimum core would be a departure from the approach taken to 
adjudication of socioeconomic rights – and therefore the RAH – by the Courts 
in Wales and England (see above). In my view, once again if the RAH to is to 
have meaningful effect to protect the interest of those in greatest housing 
need in Wales (such as people who are experiencing homelessness), the 
Courts will need directed to apply a minimum core as a standard of 
adjudication. This should be achieved by express reference to the need to 
apply a minimum core in legislation to incorporate the RAH, and the inclusion 
of a mechanism to establish what the minimum core means in practice.  
 

16th March 2023 

                                                           
22 Notably in General Comment No.3 (note 10). 

Tudalen y pecyn 83



Y Pwyllgor Llywodraeth Leol a Thai 

23 Mawrth 2023 – clawr y papurau i’w nodi 

Rhif y papur Mater Oddi wrth Gweithredu 

Papur 8 Cyllideb ddrafft 

Llywodraeth Cymru 

2023-24 

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid I’w nodi 

Papur 9 Cydsyniad 

Deddfwriaethol: Bil 

Tai Cymdeithasol 

(Rheoleiddio) 

Y Pwyllgor Busnes I’w nodi 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 84

Eitem 10



 

 

 

8 Mawrth 2023 

Annwyl Gadeiryddion y Pwyllgorau, 

Craffu ar y Gyllideb Ddrafft ar gyfer 2023-24: Tystiolaeth a ddarparwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru 

Yn ein hadroddiad sy’n craffu ar Gyllideb Ddrafft Llywodraeth Cymru 2023-24, gwnaethom nifer o 
argymhellion yn ymwneud â gwella gosodiad y gyllideb. Gwnaethom hefyd gytuno i ymgynghori â’r 
Pwyllgorau ynghylch y ddogfennaeth a ddarperir gan Lywodraeth Cymru ochr yn ochr â’i chynigion 
ar gyfer y Gyllideb Ddrafft, gan ddod i’r casgliad a ganlyn: 

“Casgliad 1. Rydym yn croesawu parodrwydd y Gweinidog i ystyried ffyrdd y gellir 
gwella dogfennaeth y gyllideb. Er ein bod wedi adlewyrchu ein barn uchod, mae’r 
Pwyllgor wedi penderfynu ymgynghori â phwyllgorau’r Senedd ar eu profiadau o 
graffu ar ddogfennaeth y gyllideb eleni a ffyrdd y gellir gwneud gwelliannau.” 

O ganlyniad, gan ystyried y profiad o graffu ar y gyllideb eleni a’r nod o sicrhau gwelliannau i’r 
ddogfennaeth a ddarperir gan Lywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer Cyllideb Ddrafft 2024-25 a thu hwnt, 
byddai’n dda gennyf gael barn eich pwyllgorau mewn ymateb i’r cwestiwn a ganlyn: 

Pa welliannau yr hoffech eu gweld o ran y ddogfennaeth sy’n cyd-fynd â Chyllideb Ddrafft 
Llywodraeth Cymru a thystiolaeth ysgrifenedig ddilynol gan y Gweinidog?  

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid 
— 
Finance Committee 

Senedd Cymru  
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddCyllid@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddCyllid  

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddFinance@senedd.wales 

senedd.wales/SeneddFinance  
0300 200 6565 

Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Diwylliant, Cyfathrebu, y Gymraeg, Chwaraeon a 
Chysylltiadau Rhyngwladol  
Cadeirydd Pwyllgor yr Economi, Masnach a Materion Gwledig 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb a Chyfiawnder Cymdeithasol 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Llywodraeth Leol a Thai 

Papur 8

Tudalen y pecyn 85

Eitem 10.1

https://senedd.cymru/media/sydbotke/cr-ld15647-w.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=39085
mailto:SeneddFinance@senedd.wales


 

 

Gofynnir i chi gyfeirio yn eich ymateb at ba mor brydlon a pha mor ddefnyddiol oedd unrhyw 
ddogfennaeth a/neu dystiolaeth a ddaeth i law, ac at safon y ddogfennaeth a/neu dystiolaeth hynny. 

Byddem yn gwerthfawrogi cael ymatebion erbyn dydd Gwener 28 Ebrill 2023. Yna bydd eich 
safbwyntiau yn cael eu coladu a’u bwydo yn ôl i’r Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol, i’w hystyried 
cyn y ddadl yn y Cyfarfod Llawn ar Flaenoriaethau Cyllideb 2024-25, a fydd yn cael ei harwain gan y 
Pwyllgor Cyllid ac a gynhelir cyn toriad yr haf. 

 Yn gywir, 

 

Peredur Owen Griffiths AS 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Cyllid 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 86



 

10 Mawrth 2023 

Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol (Memorandwm Rhif 5) ar gyfer y Bil 

Tai Cymdeithasol (Rheoleiddio). 

Annwyl John, 

Diolch i chi am eich llythyr ar 23 Chwefror ynghylch yr amser cyfyngedig oedd ar gael i 

graffu ar yr Memorandwm Atodol (Memorandwm Rhif 5) ar y Bil Tai Cymdeithasol 

(Rheoleiddio).  

Ystyriodd y Pwyllgor Busnes y llythyr ar 28 Chwefror a nodi'r pryderon a godwyd 

gennych, mewn perthynas â'r Memoranndwm Atodol hwn a'r broses gyffredinol o ran 

Memoranda. Rydym yn gwerthfawrogi'r effaith y mae amser craffu cyfyngedig yn ei 

chael ar faint o waith craffu sy'n bosibl. Yn ystod ein hystyriaeth o'ch llythyr, nododd y 

Gweinidog Materion Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, a'r Trefnydd mai achos y trafferthion 

yn yr achos hwn oedd cytuno’n hwyr ar y gwelliannau yn San Steffan ac ychydig iawn o 

ymgysylltu ymlaen llaw rhwng Llywodraeth y DU a Llywodraeth Cymru.  

Yn yr un cyfarfod, cawsom lythyr gan y Gweinidog Materion Gwledig a Gogledd Cymru, 

a'r Trefnydd mewn perthynas â materion tebyg ar Femorandwm gwahanol. Yn y llythyr 

hwnnw, nododd y Gweinidog bod Llywodraeth Cymru'n parhau i fod wedi ymrwymo i 

osod Memoranda "mewn modd amserol a sicrhau bod y Senedd yn cael gymaint o gyfle 

i graffu â phosibl.” Mae'r llythyr hefyd yn honni y bydd Llywodraeth Cymru yn parhau i 

godi gyda Llywodraeth y DU bwysigrwydd ymgysylltu'n well a bydd yn gofyn i 

Y Pwyllgor Busnes 
— 
Y Pwyllgor Busnes 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddBusnes@senedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddBusnes  

0300 200 6565 

— 
Senedd Cymru 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddBusiness@senedd.wales  

Senedd.wales/SeneddBusiness 
0300 200 6565 

John Griffiths AS 

Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Llywodraeth Leol a Thai 

Papur 9

Tudalen y pecyn 87

Eitem 10.2



 

 

Lywodraeth y DU ddarparu ar gyfer prosesau'r Senedd wrth ystyried amserlenni ei 

Biliau.  

Fel y gwyddoch, cyfeiriodd y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd at ystyriaethau tebyg yn ystod 

y ddadl yn y Cyfarfod Llawn ar y Memorandwm ar y Bil Tai Cymdeithasol (Rheoleiddio), 

hefyd ar 28 Chwefror. 

Yn yr un ddadl, cadarnhaodd y Gweinidog fod gwelliannau pellach wedi'u cyflwyno i'r 

Bil yn San Steffan ac y gallai'r rhain ysgogi gofyniad pellach am ganiatâd. Cadarnhaodd 

y Gweinidog ei bwriad i ysgrifennu at Lywodraeth y DU i ystyried effaith hynny ar allu'r 

Senedd i graffu'n effeithiol ar y Bil. Fel Pwyllgor Busnes, byddwn yn parhau i adolygu'r 

materion hyn. 

Hoffwn ddiolch i'ch Pwyllgor am y gwaith y mae wedi'i wneud hyd yma a bydd copi o'r 

llythyr hwn yn cael ei anfon at y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a’r Cyfansoddiad, 

sydd wedi codi pryderon tebyg yn y gorffennol.  

Cofion cynnes 

 

Y Gwir Anrh. Elin Jones AS 

Y Llywydd a Chadeirydd y Pwyllgor Busnes 

 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Tudalen y pecyn 88


	Agenda
	2 Gwasanaethau Llyfrgell a Hamdden awdurdodau lleol - sesiwn dystiolaeth 1
	Papur 1 (Saesneg yn unig)
	Papur 2
	Papur 3 (Saesneg yn unig)

	5 Ystyried cylch gorchwyl - ymchwiliad ar y sector rhentu preifat
	6 Trafod y Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol (Memorandwm Rhif 6) ar y Bil Tai Cymdeithasol (Rheoleiddio)
	7 Yr Hawl i Gael Tai Digonol - sesiwn dystiolaeth 3
	Papur 4 (Saesneg yn unig)
	Papur 5 (Saesneg yn unig)
	Papur 6 (Saesneg yn unig)

	9 Yr Hawl i Gael Tai Digonol - sesiwn dystiolaeth 5
	10 Papurau i'w nodi
	10.1 Llythyr gan y Pwyllgor Cyllid ynghylch cyllideb ddrafft Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer 2023-24
	10.2 Llythyr gan y Pwyllgor Busnes ynghylch Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol Atodol (Memorandwm Rhif 5) ar gyfer y Bil Tai Cymdeithasol (Rheoleiddio)



